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Indian Railway Finance Corporation Limited (IRFC) is a 

Central Public Sector Enterprise. Its entire paid up share 

capital is held by the President of India and his nominees. 

It is also a listed Company in the sense that its Bonds are 

listed on the Wholesale Debt Market (WDM) segment 

of the National Stock Exchange (NSE), Mumbai. IRFC 

is in compliance of relevant provisions of Corporate 

Governance, in terms of the Listing Agreement entered 

into with the NSE. In this connection, relevant details 

are furnished below:-

Company's Philosophy on the Code of Governance

The Company looks upon Corporate Governance as an 

enterprise-wide endeavour targeted at  value creation 

in the form of striking optimum balance between its 

profit and cost of funds transferred to the Ministry of 

Railways who is also the Shareholder. This is sought 

to be achieved by a combination of delegation and 

accountability amongst key executives in the Company; 

focussed attention and transparency  in operations of the 

Company; skill upgrades through need-based training, 

etc.; and  enhanced investor / lender satisfaction 

through timely debt servicing.

In pursuit of the best Corporate Governance practices, 

the Company  formulated a 'Code of Business 

Conduct and Ethics for Board Members and Senior 

Management'in June, 2008  to foster ethics and 

transparency in managing its business affairs. The same 

has also been posted on the website of the Company 

(www.irfc.in). 

Compliance with and non-violation of the provisions  

enshrined in the Code during the previous year is 

required to be signed by all Directors and  senior 

Officers of the Company. The requirement stands 

fulfilled. A declaration to this effect, duly signed by the 

Managing Director (CEO), is at Annexure 'A'  and forms 

part of this report.  

Board of Directors

As on the date of the Report, there are 8 Directors on 

the Board of the Company. The Financial Commissioner 

(Railways) is the ex-officio Non-Executive Chairperson 

of the Company. Besides Managing Director and 

Director Finance, one Director each is nominated by 

Ministry of Finance and Ministry of Railways, and there 

are three non-government Directors (hereinafter referred 

to as Independent Directors). As provided in the Articles 

of Association of IRFC, the appointment  of  Directors 

and payment of their remuneration are determined by 

the President of India, except the remuneration of the 

Independent Director(s),which is determined by the 

Board of Directors subject to laws applicable from time 

to time. Meetings of the Board of Directors held during 

the year under review are listed below :-

	 Serial No. 	 Board Meeting No.	 Date

	 1.	 181	 28.04.2008

	 2.	 182	 10.07.2008

	 3.	 183	 29.07.2008

	 4.	 184	 19.08.2008

	 5.	 185	 06.10.2008

	 6.	 186	 22.10.2008

	 7.	 187	 26.11.2008

	 8.	 188	 30.01.2009

	 9.	 189	 16.03.2009

Report on Corporate Governance
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Attendance at the Meetings of the Board of Directors during 2008-09 :-
Name of the Director Number of 

meetings of BOD 
held during their 

tenure

Number of 
meetings 
attended

Attendance at 
the last AGM 

Directorship 
In other 

Companies

No. of Committee 
positions held in 
public companies 
including IRFC @

Smt. Sowmya Raghavan 
Chairperson / IRFC
From 01.01.2009

2 2 NA None None

Smt. Sudha M.Chobe 
Chairperson / IRFC
Ceased to be Chairperson 
on 30.11.2008

7 7 Yes 1 None

Shri R. Kashyap 
Managing Director/IRFC
From 01.09.2006

9 9 Yes None None

Shri Arvind Mayaram
Director / IRFC
Ceased to be Director
on 04.03.2009

5* 1 No 2 2

Prof. R.Narayanaswamy #
Director / IRFC
From 16.10.2008

4 3 NA None 1

Shri Nasser Munjee 
Director / IRFC
From 17.10.2006

9 3 No 13 10**

Shri S.K.Kaushik 
Director Finance / IRFC
From 10.09.2007

9 9 Yes None None

Kumari Anjali Goyal 
Director / IRFC
From 24.05.2007

9 8 Yes None None

Shri Govind Mohan
Director / IRFC
From 04.03.2009

1 1 NA 2 None

Shri P.K.Choudhury #
Director / IRFC
From  16.10.2008

4 3 NA 6 5**

*	 Shri Arvind Mayaram was promoted  and transferred out of the Ministry of Finance on 17.10.2008. However, 
formal orders, including orders of appointment of Shri Govind Mohan in his place, were received in our Office 
only on 04.03.2009.

@	 Only Audit Committee and Shareholder' Grievance Committee have been reckoned while considering Committee 
positions. 

**	Shri Nasser Munjee is Chairman of 4 Committees in different companies. Shri P.K.Choudhury is not Chairman of 
any Committee in any Company.

# 	Order appointing Prof. R. Narayanaswamy and Shri P.K.Choudhury as Independent Director(s) of the Company was 
issued by the Ministry of Railways on 16.10.2008. However, the same was received in our Office on 24.10.2008, 
and they could not attend the Meeting of the Board held on 22.10.2008.
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NOTE : Salary, in the following scales, together with the 
usual allowances and perks was paid by the Company to 
Shri R.Kashyap :-

Period	 Scale(s) (Rs.)
	 under CDA pattern
01.04.2008 to 29.04.2008	 Rs.37400-67000 plus
 	 Grade Pay of Rs.10,000/-

30.04.2008 to 31.03.2009	 Rs.37400-67000 plus
	 Grade Pay of Rs.12,000/-

Similarly, Shri S.K.Kaushik was paid salary in the scale of 
Rs.37400-67000 plus Grade Pay of Rs.10,000/- (under 
CDA pattern), with usual allowances and perks w.e.f. 
01.04.2008 to 31.03.2009.

The above pay and allowances  have been permitted 
consequent upon implementation of Sixth Central Pay 
Commission recommendations in terms of  Government's 
Notification GSR No.643-E dated 04.09.2008 forwarded 
under Railway Board's endorsement No.PC-VI/2008/I /
RSRP/1 of even date. The Revised Pay Scales have been 
given effect from 01.01.2006 entirely in line with orders 
of the Government.

The Directors  are not related to each other. Directors 
do not have pecuniary relationship with the Company. 
A Sitting Fee of Rs.5,000/- per meeting was paid  to  
Independent Director(s) for attending Board/ Audit 
Committee meetings during the year under review. 

Information placed before the Board
Information placed before the Board of Director broadly 
covers the items specified in the Listing Agreement 
and such other items as might be useful in facilitating 
meaningful and focused deliberations on issues 
concerning the Company and taking decisions in an 
informed and efficient manner. Additionally, Directors 
on the Board have complete access to all information 
pertaining to the business of the Company, as and when 
required.

Constitution of Audit Committee
In  terms  of  Section  292-A  of the Companies Act, 1956 read 
with the Listing Agreement and Guidelines on Corporate 
Governance issued by Department of Public Enterprises, 
Ministry of Heavy Industries and Public Enterprises, 
Government of India, the Company has a duly constituted 
Audit Committee. At  present,  the Audit Committee 

comprises five members - Shri Naseer Munjee, Independent 
Director/IRFC, Prof. R. Narayanaswamy, Independent 
Director/IRFC, Shri P.K.Choudhury, Independent Director/
IRFC, Shri Govind Mohan, Director/IRFC  and Shri 
R.Kashyap, Managing Director/IRFC. Shri Nasser Munjee is 
the Chairman of the Audit Committee. Company Secretary 
acts as Secretary to the Audit Committee.

During the financial year 2008-09, five Meetings of the 
Committee were held on 16th April, 2008, 10th  July, 2008, 
28th July, 2008, 22th October, 2008 and 30th   January, 
2009. The Members attended the Meetings as indicated 
below:-

SL. 
No.

Name of the Member of 
the Audit Committee

Number of 
Meetings 
held dur-
ing their 
tenure

Number 
of 
Meeting 
attended

1. Shri Nasser Munjee 
Independent Director 

5 4

2. Shri Arvind Mayaram*
Director 
(Ceased to be Member on 
04.03.2009)

5 3

3. Prof. R.Narayanaswamy**
Independent Director 
(Appointed on16.10.2008)

2 1

4. Shri P.K.Choudhury**
Independent Director 
(Appointed on16.10.2008)

2 1

5. Shri Govind Mohan
Director 
(Appointed on 04.03.2009)

None None

6. Shri R. Kashyap 
Managing Director

5 5

*     Shri Arvind Mayaram was promoted  and transferred out 
of the Ministry  of Finance on  17.10.2008. However, 
formal orders, including orders of appointment of Shri 
Govind Mohan in his place, were received in our 
Office  only on 04.03.2009.

**	Order appointing Prof. R. Narayanaswamy and Shri 
P.K.Choudhury as Independent Director(s) of the 
Company was issued by the Ministry of Railways on 
16.10.2008. However, the same was received in our 
Office on 24.10.2008, and they could  not attend the 
Meeting of the Audit Committee held on 22.10.2008.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee include 
the following:-

	 To hold discussion with Auditors periodically 
about: 

•	 Internal control system and compliance thereof.

•	 Scope of audit including observations of the 
auditors. 

•	 Review of the quarterly, half yearly and annual 
financial statements before submission to the 
Board.

•	 Any other matter as may be referred to by the  
Board.

 	 The Audit Committee is further responsible for:-

•	 Overseeing the Company's financial reporting 
process and disclosure of its financial information 
to ensure that the financial statements are correct, 
sufficient and credible.

•	 Reviewing with the management the annual 
financial statements with primary focus on 
accounting policies and practices, compliance 
with accounting standards and guidelines of 
stock exchange(s), major accounting entries, 
qualifications in draft audit reports, related party 
transactions & the going concern assumption.

•	 Holding discussions with external auditors to 
ascertain any area(s) of concern.

•	 Reviewing the Company's financial and risk 
management strategies.

Remuneration Committee & Shareholders Committee
In terms of Office Memorandum No. 2(70)/08-DPE(WC) 
dated 26th November, 2008 issued by Department of 
Public Enterprises, Ministry of Heavy Industries & Public 
Enterprises, Government of India,  all Central Public sector 
Enterprises are required to constitute a Remuneration 
Committee headed by an Independent Director. The 
Committee will decide the Performance Related Pay 
together with the  variable  pay for constituents of the  
Company, including distribution thereof across the 
executives and staff, consistent with guidelines and limits 
prescribed by the Government.

In compliance with the above, the Board of Directors 
have constituted a Remuneration Committee of the 
Company comprising of S/Shri R. Narayanaswamy, 
Nasser Munjee and P.K.Choudhury, Independent 
Directors and Shri R.Kashyap, Managing Director. Prof. 
R. Narayanaswamy, Independent Director, is Chairman 
of the Remuneration Committee. The Committee held its 
first Meeting on    20th April, 2009 which was attended 
by all the Members except Shri P.K. Choudhury.

The entire paid up share capital is held by Government 
of India in the name of the President of India  and his 
nominees in line with the Articles of Association of 
the Company. As such, the Company has no separate  
Shareholders Committee.

Training of Board Members
All Non-Executive Directors are apprised of the 
Company's operations and other important matters by 
the two whole-time Directors of the Board from time 
to time. The Company's Board of Directors consists of 
professionals with vast experience and high level of 
expertise in their respective fields and industry. Their 
professional status gives them adequate exposure to the 
latest trends in the financial markets & the economy, and 
changes in relevant legislation.

Registrar & Transfer Agents / Investors' Grievance 
Committee
The Company has delegated the power of transfer/  
transmission  of Bonds to its Registrars & Transfer 
Agent (Registrars),  Karvy Computershare Private Ltd., 
Hyderabad who have constituted a Committeee to 
render the services to investors. The Committee meets 
on fortnightly basis.

The Committee reviews complaints received and 
appropriate action is taken promptly.

The Company gets audit of the work done by the 
Registrars conducted periodically.

As on 31.03.2009, there were no complaints pending 
from investors for more than 30 days. 
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General Body Meetings
Details  of  location,  time and date of last three 
Annual General Meetings (AGM) are as under :-

AGM 
No.

AGM Date Location Time

21 28th August, 
2008

Committee 
Room (237), 
2nd Floor, 
Rail Bhawan, 
New Delhi.

4.00 
P.M.

20 30th August, 
2007

Committee 
Room (237), 
2nd Floor, 
Rail Bhawan, 
New Delhi.

3.00 
P.M.

19 28th August, 
2006

Committee 
Room (237), 
2nd Floor, 
Rail Bhawan, 
New Delhi.

4.00 
P.M.

An Extra-ordinary General Meeting of the  
Company was also held on 24.03.2009 at 3.00 
P.M. in Committee Room 237, 2nd floor, Rail 
Bhawan, New Delhi.

Two Special Resolutions were passed in the 20th 
Annual General Meeting held on 30th August, 
2007.

Disclosures
No transaction of a material nature has been 
entered into by the Company with Directors or 
Management and their relatives etc., which may 
have potential conflict  with the interests of the 
Company.

There has neither been any non-compliance of 
any provision of applicable law, nor has any  
penalty been imposed  or any strictures passed 
against the Company  by the Stock Exchanges 
or SEBI on any matter related to capital market 
during the last three years.  

The Company has complied with the applicable 
Guidelines on Corporate Governance issued 
by Department of Public Enterprises, Ministry 

of Heavy Industries and Public Enterprises, 
Government of India. No Presidential Directive 
was issued by the Central Government to the 
Company during the year 2008-09. No items 
of expenditure have been debited in books of 
accounts, which are not for the purposes of the 
business. Further, there was no expense  which is 
of personal  nature and incurred for the Board of 
Directors and / or Top Management.

During the year, the Administrative and Office 
expenses were 0.20% of the total expenses as 
against 0.24% in the last year.

The Company did not get any qualification from 
its Auditors for its accounts for the year 2008-09.

CEO / CFO certification
As required under the Listing Agreement, a 
Certificate related to truthfulness of Financial 
Statements, bonafide nature of  transactions & 
adequacy of internal controls, etc., duly signed 
by Shri R. Kashyap, Managing Director (CEO) 
and Shri S.K. Kaushik, Director Finance (CFO) 
was placed before the Board of Directors in their 
meeting held on 28th July, 2009.

Means of Communication
During 2008-09, Unaudited Quarterly Financial 
Results of the  Company were published in 
selected national newspapers of repute both in 
English and Hindi,  besides being submitted to the 
National Stock Exchange. Unaudited Financial 
Results for the half year ended 30th September, 
2008 and for the year ended 31st March, 2009 
were also sent by registered post to all the 
registered Bondholders of the Company.

Information Memorandum of the Company has 
been hosted on the website of National Stock 
Exchange. Annual Accounts of the Company for 
the last 3 years are also available on the website 
of the Company.

Whistle Blower Policy
In line with extant best practices, the Company 
has framed a Whistle Blower Policy, and the 
same has been communicated to all employees 
of the Company.
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For convenience of all stakeholders, the said 
policy has also been hosted on the website of the 
Company.

General Shareholder Information 

Annual  General Meeting  :

Date	 :	 28th August, 2009
Day	 :	 Friday	
Time	 :	 4.00 p.m.

Financial Calendar
Financial year of the Company is 1st April to               
31st March every year.

During the year ended March 31, 2009 
unaudited financial results in diglot form (Hindi 
& English) were published on :

For first quarter ended June 30, 
2008
Economic Times
Business Standard
Nav Bharat Times (Hindi)
Business Standard (Hindi)
Financial Times

30.07.2008
30.07.2008
30.07.2008
30.07.2008
03.08.2008

For second quarter and first half 
year ended September 30, 2008
Economic Times
Business Standard
Nav Bharat Times (Hindi)
Business Standard (Hindi)
Financial Times

23.10.2008
23.10.2008
23.10.2008
23.10.2008
26.10.2008

For third quarter ended 
December 31, 2008
Economic Times
Business Standard
Nav Bharat Times (Hindi)
Business Standard (Hindi)
Financial Times

31.01.2009
31.01.2009
31.01.2009
31.01.2009
08.02.2009

For fourth quarter ended March 
31, 2009 and also for the 
financial year 2008-09
Economic Times
Business Standard
Nav Bharat Times (Hindi)
Business Standard (Hindi)
Financial Times

23.04.2009
23.04.2009
23.04.2009
23.04.2009
26.04.2009

                                       		                                                    
Dematerialisaton of Bonds
All Bonds issued by the Company have been 
made available in the dematerialised form. The 
same are listed with National Stock Exchange. 
The Listing Fee for the year 2008-09 has been 
paid to the Stock Exchange.

Compliance Certificate on Corporate 
Governance
As required under the Listing Agreement, a 
certificate from the Statutory Auditor of the 
Company regarding compliance of conditions 
of Corporate Governance by the Company  has 
been obtained which is annexed to this Report.
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Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Certification under the 
Listing Agreement entered into with the National Stock Exchange 

In relation to the audited financial accounts of the Company as at 31st March, 2009, we hereby certify 
that

a)	 We have reviewed financial statements and the cash flow statement for the year and that to the best 
of our knowledge and belief :

i)	 These statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or  omit any material fact or 
contain statements that might be misleading ; and

ii)	 These statements together present a true and fair view of the Company's affairs and are in 
compliance with existing accounting standards, applicable laws and regulations.

b)	 There are to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by Company during 
the year which are fraudulent or illegal.

c)	 We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for financial reporting and 
have evaluated the effectiveness of internal control systems of the Company pertaining to financial 
reporting. We have disclosed to the auditors and the Audit Committee, deficiencies in the design or 
operation of internal controls of which we are aware, and the steps we have taken or propose to take 
to rectify these deficiencies.

d.	 We have indicated to the auditors and the Audit Committee that :

i)	 There has not been any significant change in internal control over financial reporting during the 
year under reference ;

ii)	 There has not been any significant change in accounting policies during the year requiring 
disclosure in the notes to the financial statements ; and

iii)	 We are not aware of any instance during the year of significant fraud with involvement therein 
of the management or an employee having a significant role in the Company's internal control 
system over financial reporting.

	 sd/-	 sd/-
	 (S.K. Kaushik)	 (R. Kashyap)
	 Director Finance	 Managing Director 
Dated  : 22.07.2009	 (CFO)	 (CEO)

ANNEXURE- 'A'

Declaration by the Managing Director (CEO) under the Listing Agreement 

I hereby confirm that all Board Members and Senior Management personnel have conveyed their 
acceptance to the "Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for Board Members and Senior Management".

Place	 :	 New Delhi	 sd/-
Date	 :	 22.07.2009	 (R. Kashyap)
			   Managing Director
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AUDITOR'S CERTIFICATE ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE CONDITIONS OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE UNDER THE LISTING AGREEMENT

To 
The Members of
Indian Railway Finance Corporation Ltd.

1.	 We have examined the compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance by Indian Railway 
Finance Corporation Ltd., for the year ended on 31st March 2009, as stipulated in the Listing 
Agreement of the said Company with the National Stock Exchange (hereinafter referred to as the 
"Agreement").

2.	 The compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the Management.  
Our examination was limited to the procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the 
Company for ensuring compliance of the conditions of the Corporate Governance.  It is neither 
an audit nor an expression of the opinion on the financial statements of the Company.

3.	 As on 31-03-2009, the composition of the Board was in conformity with the provisions of the 
Listing Agreement.

4.	 During the year, one Executive Director was member of the Audit Committee. Further, the Audit 
Committee had the required number of independent directors as on 31-03-2009.

5.	 As required by the Guidance Note issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, we 
have to state that as per the records maintained and certified by the Registrar & Transfer Agent 
of the Company, there were no investors' grievances remaining unattached / pending for more 
than 30 days as at 31st March 2009.

6.	 We further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the 
Company nor the efficiency or effectiveness with which the Management has conducted the 
affairs of the Company.

		  For Dhawan & Co.
		  Chartered Accountants
		  Deepak Kapoor

Place 	 :	New Delhi	 (Partner)
Dated 	:	July 28, 2009	 No. - 72302
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Indian Railway Finance Corporation Ltd.

2008-09

(A Government of India Enterprise)

ANNUAL
ACCOUNTS
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(Rs. In Lacs)

PARTICULARS	      Schedule		  As At				    As At
							       31.03.2009				    31.03.2008

SOURCES OF FUNDS
1.	 Shareholders' Funds
	 i.	 Share Capital	 1		  50000.00			   50000.00
	 ii  	 Share Application Money 
		  (Note No. 24; Sch-16)			   30000.00			   -
	 iii. 	Reserves and Surplus	 2		  198070.46			   192576.46
							       278070.46			   242576.46
2.	 Loan Funds	 3
	 i.  Secured
		  - In India		  2240248.18			   1884459.82
		  - Outside India		  19776.90	 2260025.08		  16800.00	 1901259.82
	 ii.	 Unsecured
		  - In India		  124616.00			   194750.00
		  - Outside India		  354229.89	 478845.89		  313846.95	 508596.95
	 	 Total Loan Funds				    2738870.97			   2409856.77
3. 	Deferred Tax Liability 
	 (Net) (Note No.16; Sch-16)				    225655.23			   185465.08

	 Total					     3242596.66			   2837898.31

APPLICATION OF FUNDS
4. 	Fixed Assets 	 4
	 i. 	 Gross Block			   1707.61			   1700.99
	 ii. 	 Less: Depreciation			   308.52			   280.91
	 iii. 	Net Block				    1399.09			   1420.08
5. 	Long Term Loans & Advances 
	 (Note No.29; Sch-16)	 5			   3156191.09			   2702551.90
6. 	Investments	 6			   199.85			   199.85
7. 	Current Assets, Loans & Advances	 7
	 i) 	 Current Assets		  137302.02			   173008.83
	 ii) 	 Loans and Advances		  42630.74	 179932.76		  42078.12	 215086.95
8. 	Less: Current Liabilities & Provisions	 8
	 i) 	 Current Liabilities		  77372.25			   61776.58
	 ii) 	 Provisions		  21163.35	 98535.60		  19603.89	 81380.47
9. 	Net Current Assets				    81397.16			   133706.48
10. Miscellaneous Expenditure 
	 (to the extent not written off or adjusted)
	 Misc. Expenses			    - 				    20.00
11. Deferred Revenue Expenditure
	 Foreign Currency Monetary 
	 Item Translation 
	 Difference A/c (Note No.4; Sch-16)				    3409.47			    - 

	 Total	 				    3242596.66			   2837898.31

Significant Accounting Policies 
and Notes on Accounts	 16						    

BALANCE SHEET 
AS AT 31ST MARCH 2009

Schedules 1 to 16 form an integral part of the Accounts.		
This is the Balance Sheet referred to in our Report of even date.	 For and on behalf of the Board		

For  DHAWAN & CO.
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS	 S.K. Ajmani	 S.K.Kaushik	 R.Kashyap
	 Company Secretary	 Director (Finance)	 Managing Director
Deepak Kapoor	 & G. M (Term Loans)
Partner
M No. 072302

Place 	:	New Delhi	 Sowmya Raghavan
Dated 	:	28th July, 2009	 Chairperson			 
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(Rs. In Lacs)

DESCRIPTION                                                                           	 Schedule	 Year ended 	 Year ended 
					     31.03.2009	 31.03.2008

INCOME			 

Lease Income 		  272645.17	 237433.61

Income on Loans & Deposits		  28688.74	 20792.82

Income on Investments		  7.32	 64.47

Exchange Rate Variation Gain		  195.85	 1405.00

Other Income	 9	 941.01	 2782.57

TOTAL			   302478.09	 262478.47

EXPENDITURE			 

Interest on Bonds and Loans   	 10	 216279.62	 181028.42

Lease Rent Paid		  18603.45	 16749.39

Salary & Other Employee Benefits                                                    	 11	 166.14	 95.46

Administrative & Other Expenses                                                                  	 12	 464.34	 232.59

Bond Servicing Expenses                                                                	 13	 185.38	 152.28

Depreciation 	 4	 36.74	 41.04

Bond Issue Expenses/Expenses on loans                                       	 14	 969.25	 177.71

TOTAL			   236704.92	 198476.89

Profit for the Year		  65773.17	 64001.58

Prior Period Income (Net)                                                                       	 15	 (4.44)	 (166.73)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX		  65768.73	 63834.85

Less: PROVISION FOR TAX			 

      Current Tax		  7500.00	 7227.00

Tax For Earlier Years 		  (1.53)	  -   

      Deferred Tax			 

          -For Current Year		  22355.92	 14451.07

          -For Earlier Years		  17828.37	  -   

Fringe Benefit Tax		  6.81	 5.45

NET PROFIT AFTER TAX		  18079.16	 42151.33

APPROPRIATIONS:			 

Interim Dividend Paid		  10000.00	 10000.00

Proposed Final Dividend		   -   	  -   

Dividend Tax		  1699.50	 1699.50

Transfer To General Reserve		  1900.00	 4216.00

Transfer To Exchange Variation Reserve		  1947.00	 897.00

Transfer To Bonds Redemption Reserve		  2532.66	 25338.83

TOTAL			   18079.16	 42151.33

Basic Earning Per Share - in Rs. (Note No.22; Sch-16)		  361.58	 843.03

Diluted Earning Per Share - in Rs. (Note No.22; Sch-16)		  360.40	 843.03

	
Schedules 1 to 16 form an integral part of the Accounts.		
This is the Profit and Loss Account referred to in our Report of even date.	 For and on behalf of the Board		

For  DHAWAN & CO.
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS	 S.K. Ajmani	 S.K.Kaushik	 R.Kashyap
	 Company Secretary	 Director (Finance)	 Managing Director
Deepak Kapoor	 & G. M (Term Loans)
Partner
M No. 072302

Place 	:	New Delhi	 Sowmya Raghavan
Dated 	:	28th July, 2009	 Chairperson			 

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2009
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SCHEDULE-1		
SHARE CAPITAL
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 AS AT	 AS AT
		 31.03.2009	 31.03.2008

	AUTHORISED		
	100,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs.1000/-each	 100000.00	 100000.00
	(Previous Year 100,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 1000/- each)		
			
	ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP		
	50,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs.1000/- each	 50000.00	 50000.00
	(Previous Year 50,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 1000/- each)		

	TOTAL 	 50000.00	 50000.00

SCHEDULE-2		
RESERVES AND SURPLUS
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 AS AT	 AS AT
		 31.03.2009	 31.03.2008

	AUTHORISED		

	1. 	General Reserve		
		 Opening Balance	 42216.00	 38000.00
		 Less: Transfer to Foreign Currency Monetary Item 
		 Translation Difference A/c	 926.51	  -   
		 Add: Amount transferred from Foreign Currency Monetary 
		 Item Translation Difference A/c	 29.46	  -   
		 Add: Adjustment on account of Transitional Provision 
		 for Employee Benefits as per AS-15	 11.39	 -   
		 Add: Addition During the year	 1900.00	 4216.00

			  43230.34	 42216.00
	2. 	Exchange Variation Reserve		
		 Opening Balance	 4847.00	 3950.00
		 Add: Addition During the year	 1947.00	 897.00

			  6794.00	 4847.00
	3. 	Bonds Redemption Reserve
		 Opening Balance	 145513.46	 120174.63
		 Add: Addition during the year	 2532.66	 25338.83
			  148046.12	 145513.46

	TOTAL 	 198070.46	 192576.46
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SCHEDULE-3		
LOANS
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 AS AT	 AS AT
				   31.03.2009	 31.03.2008

	1.	SECURED LOANS
		 LOANS -  IN INDIA		
		 (Secured by first floating charge on all the assets 		
 		 of the Company,  ranking pari-passu inter se).		
		 A. 	TAXABLE AND TAX- FREE SECURED,REDEEMABLE 		
			  NON-CONVERTIBLE, NON-CUMMULATIVE IRFC RAILWAY BONDS		
			  OF Rs. 10,00,000/- EACH (IF NOT OTHERWISE SPECIFIED) ISSUED		
			  ON PRIVATE PLACEMENT BASIS FOR CASH AT PAR		

			  TWELVETH SERIES 10% Taxable - CC Series
			  - 	 Redeemable in 10 equal yearly instalments of	 8000.00	 10000.00
			 	    Rs. 2000 Lacs each starting from 31.03.2004	 8000.00	 10000.00

			  THIRTEENTH SERIES - 10.5%  Tax free 	
			  -	 Redeemed on 03-09-2008	 -	 25500.00
				   10.5%  Tax free - A Series
			  -	 Redeemed on 30.03.2009	 -	 200.00
				   10% Taxable of Rs. 1000/- each - AA Series
			  - 	 Redeemable in 15 equal yearly instalments of Rs.1333.33 lacs
				   starting from 31.03.2000	 6666.70	 8000.03
					    6666.70	 33700.03
			  FIFTEENTH SERIES - 12.90% Taxable
			  "I" Series-Redeemed on 22.6.2008 	  - 	 1000.00
			  "J" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2009	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "K" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2010 	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "L" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2011 	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "M" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2012 	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "N" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2013 	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "O" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2014 	 1000.00	 1000.00

					    6000.00	 7000.00
			  SIXTEENTH SERIES- 12.80% Taxable
			  "I" Series-Redeemed on 15.7.2008 	  -   	 1000.00
			  "J" Series-Redeemable on 15.7.2009 	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "K" Series-Redeemable on 15.7.2010 	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "L" Series-Redeemable on 15.7.2011 	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "M" Series-Redeemable on 15.7.2012 	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "N" Series-Redeemable on 15.7.2013 	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "O" Series-Redeemable on 15.7.2014 	 1000.00	 1000.00

					    6000.00	 7000.00
			  SEVENTEENTH SERIES- 9% Tax free
			  -	 Redeemable on 28.2.2015	 20000.00	 20000.00
			  TWENTY FIRST SERIES- 11.40% Taxable
 			  -	 Redeemable on 27-07-2010	 500.00	 500.00
			  TWENTY SECOND SERIES- 11.50% Taxable
			  - 	 Redeemable in 14  yearly instalments starting from 28.07.2002	 510.00	 580.00
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			  TWENTY SIXTH SERIES- 7.75% Taxfree
			  -	 Redeemable on 26-03-2011	 4500.00	 4500.00
			  TWENTY SEVENTH SERIES- 7.75% Taxfree
			  -	 Redeemable on 30-03-2011	 2500.00	 2500.00
			  THIRTY SECOND SERIES- 8.29% Taxable
			  -	 Redeemable  in  5  yearly  instalments  of  Rs.10000 Lacs	 30,000.00	 40,000.00
				   starting  from 20.8.2007
			  THIRTY THIRD SERIES- 10.45% Taxable
			  "G" Series-Redeemed on 13-9-2008 	  -   	 990.00
			  "H" Series-Redeemable on 13-9-2009	 990.00	 990.00
			  "I" Series-Redeemable on 13-9-2010 	 990.00	 990.00
			  "J" Series-Redeemable on 13-9-2011 	 990.00	 990.00
			  "K" Series-Redeemable on 13-9-2012 	 990.00	 990.00
			  "L" Series-Redeemable on 13-9-2013 	 990.00	 990.00
			  "M" Series-Redeemable on 13-9-2014 	 990.00	 990.00
			  "N" Series-Redeemable on 13-9-2015	 990.00	 990.00
			  "O" Series-Redeemable on 13-9-2016 	 990.00	 990.00

				   7920.00	 8910.00
			  THIRTY FOURTH SERIES- 9.95% Taxable
			  "E" Series-Redeemed on 13-9-2008	  -   	 540.00
			  "F" Series-Redeemable on 13-9-2009	 540.00	 540.00
			  "G" Series-Redeemable on 13-9-2010 	 540.00	 540.00
			  "H" Series-Redeemable on 13-9-2011	 540.00	 540.00

				   1620.00	 2160.00
			  THIRTY SEVENTH SERIES- 8.40% Taxable
			  -Redeemed on 27-03-2009	  -   	 4100.00
			  THIRTY EIGHTH SERIES- 8.90% Taxable
			  -Redeemed on 27-03-2009	  -   	 3620.00
			  FORTY SECOND A TO O SERIES- 8% Taxable
			  "F" Series-Redeemed on 29.8.2008	  -   	 1000.00
			  "G" Series-Redeemable on 29.8.2009	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "H" Series-Redeemable on 29.8.2010	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "I" Series-Redeemable on 29.8.2011	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "J" Series-Redeemable on 29.8.2012	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "K" Series-Redeemable on 29.8.2013	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "L" Series-Redeemable on 29.8.2014	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "M" Series-Redeemable on 29.8.2015	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "N" Series-Redeemable on 29.8.2016	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "O" Series-Redeemable on 29.8.2017	 1000.00	 1000.00

				   9000.00	 10000.00
			  FORTY THIRD "A" TO "J" SERIES- 6.90% Taxable
			  "F" Series-Redeemed on 29.10.2008	  -   	 500.00
			  "G" Series-Redeemable on 29.10.2009	 500.00	 500.00
			  "H" Series-Redeemable on 29.10.2010	 500.00	 500.00
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SCHEDULE-3 Contd...		
LOANS
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 AS AT	 AS AT
				   31.03.2009	 31.03.2008

			  "I" Series-Redeemable on 29.10.2011	 500.00	 500.00
			  "J" Series-Redeemable on 29.10.2012	 500.00	 500.00

				   2000.00	 2500.00
			  FORTY THIRD "AA" TO "OO" SERIES- 7.63% Taxable
			  "FF" Series-Redeemed on 29.10.2008	  -   	 3000.00
			  "GG" Series-Redeemable on 29.10.2009	 3000.00	 3000.00
			  "HH" Series-Redeemable on 29.10.2010	 3000.00	 3000.00
			  "II" Series-Redeemable on 29.10.2011	 3000.00	 3000.00
			  "JJ" Series-Redeemable on 29.10.2012	 3000.00	 3000.00
			  "KK" Series-Redeemable on 29.10.2013	 3000.00	 3000.00
			  "LL" Series-Redeemable on 29.10.2014	 3000.00	 3000.00
			  "MM" Series-Redeemable on 29.10.2015	 3000.00	 3000.00
			  "NN" Series-Redeemable on 29.10.2016	 3000.00	 3000.00
			  "OO" Series-Redeemable on 29.10.2017	 3000.00	 3000.00

				   27000.00	 30000.00
			  FORTY FOURTH AA TO JJ  SERIES- 6.98% Taxable
			  "FF" Series-Redeemed on 31.3.2009	  -   	 2300.00
			  "GG" Series-Redeemable on 31.3.2010	 2300.00	 2300.00
			  "HH" Series-Redeemable on 31.3.2011	 2300.00	 2300.00
			  "II" Series-Redeemable on 31.3.2012	 2300.00	 2300.00
			  "JJ" Series-Redeemable on 31.3.2013	 2300.00	 2300.00

				   9200.00	 11500.00
			  FORTY FIFTH A TO E  SERIES- 6.10% Taxable
			  "C" Series-Redeemed on 13.5.2008	  -   	 7900.00
			  "D" Series-Redeemable on 13.5.2010	 7900.00	 7900.00
			  "E" Series-Redeemable on 13.5.2013	 7900.00	 7900.00

				   15800.00	 23700.00
			  FORTY FIFTH AA TO OO  SERIES- 6.39% Taxable
			  "EE" Series-Redeemed on 13.5.2008	  -   	 700.00
			  "FF" Series-Redeemable on 13.5.2009	 700.00	 700.00
			  "GG" Series-Redeemable on 13.5.2010	 700.00	 700.00
			  "HH" Series-Redeemable on 13.5.2011	 700.00	 700.00
			  "II" Series-Redeemable on 13.5.2012	 700.00	 700.00
			  "JJ" Series-Redeemable on 13.5.2013	 700.00	 700.00
			  "KK" Series-Redeemable on 13.5.2014	 700.00	 700.00
			  "LL" Series-Redeemable on 13.5.2015	 700.00	 700.00
			  "MM" Series-Redeemable on 13.5.2016	 700.00	 700.00
			  "NN" Series-Redeemable on 13.5.2017	 700.00	 700.00
			  "OO" Series-Redeemable on 13.5.2018	 700.00	 700.00

				   7000.00	 7700.00
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			  FORTY SIXTH SERIES- 5.89% Taxable
			  -Redeemable on 12.8.2008	  -   	 45000.00
			  FORTY SIXTH A TO O  SERIES- 6.25% Taxable
			  "E" Series-Redeemed on 12.8.2008	  -   	 1300.00
			  "F" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2009	 1300.00	 1300.00
			  "G" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2010	 1300.00	 1300.00
			  "H" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2011	 1300.00	 1300.00
			  "I" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2012	 1300.00	 1300.00
			  "J" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2013	 1300.00	 1300.00
			  "K" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2014	 1300.00	 1300.00
			  "L" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2015	 1300.00	 1300.00
			  "M" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2016	 1300.00	 1300.00
			  "N" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2017	 1300.00	 1300.00
			  "O" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2018	 1300.00	 1300.00

				   13000.00	 14300.00
			  FORTY SIXTH AA TO EE  SERIES- 6.20% Taxable
			  "BB" Series-Redeemed on 12.8.2008	  -   	 2500.00
			  "CC" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2010	 2500.00	 2500.00
			  "DD" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2013	 2500.00	 2500.00
			  "EE" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2018	 2500.00	 2500.00

				   7500.00	 10000.00
			  FORTY SIXTH AAA TO JJJ  SERIES- 5.99% Taxable
			  "EEE" Series-Redeemed on 12.8.2008	  -   	 1500.00
			  "FFF" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2009	 1500.00	 1500.00
			  "GGG" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2010	 1500.00	 1500.00
			  "HHH" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2011	 1500.00	 1500.00
			  "III" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2012	 1500.00	 1500.00
			  "JJJ" Series-Redeemable on 12.8.2013	 1500.00	 1500.00

				   7500.00	 9000.00
			  FORTY SEVENTH SERIES- 4.77% Taxfree
			  -Redeemed on 8.3.2009	  -   	 5000.00
			  FORTY SEVENTH A TO O SERIES- 5.99% Taxable
			  "E" Series-Redeemed on 26.3.2009	  -   	 1000.00
			  "F" Series-Redeemable on 26.3.2010	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "G" Series-Redeemable on 26.3.2011	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "H" Series-Redeemable on 26.3.2012	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "I" Series-Redeemable on 26.3.2013	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "J" Series-Redeemable on 26.3.2014	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "K" Series-Redeemable on 26.3.2015	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "L" Series-Redeemable on 26.3.2016	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "M" Series-Redeemable on 26.3.2017	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "N" Series-Redeemable on 26.3.2018	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "O" Series-Redeemable on 26.3.2019	 1000.00	 1000.00

				   10000.00	 11000.00
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			  FORTY EIGHTH A TO H SERIES- 6.85% Taxable
			  "B" Series-Redeemed on 14.9.2008 	  -   	 2960.00
			  "C" Series-Redeemable on 14.9.2009	 2960.00	 2960.00
			  "D" Series-Redeemable on 14.9.2010	 2960.00	 2960.00
			  "E" Series-Redeemable on 14.9.2011	 2960.00	 2960.00
			  "F" Series-Redeemable on 14.9.2012	 2960.00	 2960.00
			  "G" Series-Redeemable on 14.9.2013	 2960.00	 2960.00	
			  "H" Series-Redeemable on 14.9.2014	 2960.00	 2960.00

				   17760.00	 20720.00
			  FORTY EIGHTH AA TO JJ SERIES- 6.85% Taxable
			  "AA" Series-Redeemable on 17.9.2010	 5000.00	 5000.00
			  "BB" Series-Redeemable on 17.9.2011 	 5000.00	 5000.00
			  "CC" Series-Redeemable on 17.9.2012	 5000.00	 5000.00
			  "DD" Series-Redeemable on 17.9.2013	 5000.00	 5000.00
			  "EE" Series-Redeemable on 17.9.2014	 5000.00	 5000.00
			  "FF" Series-Redeemable on 17.9.2015	 5000.00	 5000.00
			  "GG" Series-Redeemable on 17.9.2016	 5000.00	 5000.00
			  "HH" Series-Redeemable on 17.9.2017	 5000.00	 5000.00
			  " II" Series-Redeemable on 17.9.2018	 5000.00	 5000.00
			  "JJ" Series-Redeemable on 17.9.2019	 5000.00	 5000.00

				   50000.00	 50000.00
			  FORTY NINTH A TO O SERIES- Floating Rate Taxable
			  "C" Series-Redeemed on 22.6.2008	  -   	 1000.00	
			  "D" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2009	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "E" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2010	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "F" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2011	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "G" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2012	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "H" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2013	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "I" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2014	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "J" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2015	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "K" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2016	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "L" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2017	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "M" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2018	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "N" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2019	 1000.00	 1000.00
			  "O" Series-Redeemable on 22.6.2020	 1000.00	 1000.00

				   12000.00	 13000.00
			  FORTY NINTH SERIES- Floating Rate Taxable
			  Redeemable on 22.6.2010	 35000.00	 35000.00
			  FIFTIETH SERIES- Floating Rate Taxable
			  Redeemable on 25.8.2010	 35000.00	 35000.00
			  FIFTY FIRST SERIES- 7.74% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 22.12.2020	 45000.00	 45000.00
			  FIFTY SECOND A SERIES-8.41% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 17.05.2016	 11000.00	 11000.00
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			  FIFTY SECOND B SERIES-8.64% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 17.05.2021	 70000.00	 70000.00
			  FIFTY THIRD SERIES-8.34% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 29.11.2011	 5000.00	 5000.00
			  FIFTY THIRD A SERIES-8.57% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 29.11.2016	 12500.00	 12500.00
			  FIFTY THIRD B SERIES-8.68% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 29.11.2021	 22500.00	 22500.00
			  FIFTY THIRD C SERIES-8.75% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 29.11.2026	 41000.00	 41000.00
			  FIFTY FOURTH SERIES-9.81% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 07.06.2017	 22000.00	 22000.00
			  FIFTY FOURTH A SERIES-9.95% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 07.06.2022	 15000.00	 15000.00
			  FIFTY FOURTH B SERIES-10.04% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 07.06.2027	 32000.00	 32000.00
			  FIFTY FIFTH A TO O SERIES-9.86% Taxable
			  "A" Series-Redeemed on 07.06.2008	  -   	 3800.00
			  "B" Series-Redeemable on 07.06.2009	 3300.00	 3300.00
			  "C" Series-Redeemable on 07.06.2010	 3300.00	 3300.00
			  "D" Series-Redeemable on 07.06.2011	 3300.00	 3300.00
			  "E" Series-Redeemable on 07.06.2012	 3300.00	 3300.00
			  "F" Series-Redeemable on 07.06.2013	 3300.00	 3300.00
			  "G" Series-Redeemable on 07.06.2014	 3300.00	 3300.00
			  "H" Series-Redeemable on 07.06.2015	 3300.00	 3300.00
			  "I" Series-Redeemable on 07.06.2016	 3300.00	 3300.00
			  "J" Series-Redeemable on 07.06.2017	 3300.00	 3300.00
			  "K" Series-Redeemable on 07.06.2018	 3300.00	 3300.00
			  "L" Series-Redeemable on 07.06.2019	 3300.00	 3300.00
			  "M" Series-Redeemable on 07.06.2020	 3300.00	 3300.00
			  "N" Series-Redeemable on 07.06.2021	 3300.00	 3300.00
			  "O" Series-Redeemable on 07.06.2022	 3300.00	 3300.00

				   46200.00	 50000.00
			  FIFTY SIXTH SERIES-9.76% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 03.07.2012	 42500.00	 42500.00
			  FIFTY SIXTH A TO C SERIES-9.68% Taxable
			  "A" Series-Redeemed on 03.07.2008	  -   	 27500.00
			  "B" Series-Redeemable on 03.07.2010	 27500.00	 27500.00
			  "C" Series-Redeemable on 03.07.2012	 27500.00	 27500.00

				   55000.00	 82500.00
			  FIFTY SEVENTH SERIES-9.66% Taxable
			  1st -Redeemable on 28.09.2018	 20000.00	 20000.00
			  2nd -Redeemable on 28.09.2019	 20000.00	 20000.00
			  3rd -Redeemable on 28.09.2020	 20000.00	 20000.00
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			  4th -Redeemable on 28.09.2021	 20000.00	 20000.00
			  5th -Redeemable on 28.09.2022	 20000.00	 20000.00

				   100000.00	 100000.00
			  FIFTY EIGHTH SERIES-8.83% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 29.10.2012	 20000.00	 20000.00
			  FIFTY EIGHTH A SERIES-9.20% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 29.10.2022	 50000.00	 50000.00
			  FIFTY NINTH SERIES-8.69% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 07.01.2011	 23000.00	 23000.00
			  FIFTY NINTH A SERIES-8.75% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 07.01.2013	 82500.00	 82500.00
			  SIXTIETH SERIES-9.43% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 23.05.2018	 60400.00	  -  
			  SIXTY FIRST SERIES-10.60% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 11.09.2018	 85500.00	  -  
			  SIXTY FIRST A SERIES-10.70% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 11.09.2023	 61500.00	  - 
			  SIXTY SECOND SERIES-8.40% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 26.12.2013	 10000.00	  -
			  SIXTY SECOND A SERIES-8.45% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 26.12.2013	 50000.00	  - 
			  SIXTY SECOND B SERIES-8.50% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 26.12.2023	 28500.00	  -
			  SIXTY THIRD SERIES-8.46% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 15.01.2014	 83000.00	  -
			  SIXTY THIRD A SERIES-8.55% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 15.01.2019	 170500.00	  -
			  SIXTY THIRD B SERIES-8.65% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 15.01.2023	 31500.00	  -
			  SIXTY FOURTH SERIES-8.49% Taxable
			  Redeemable on 30.03.2014	 18200.00	  -

			  Total (A)	 1646276.70	 1204490.03

	B. (i) 	LONG TERM LOANS FROM BANKS
			  - Allahabad Bank	 53833.59	 56499.59
			  - Andhra Bank 	 51840.00	 57006.00
 			  - Bank of India	  -   	 2000.00
			  - Bank of Maharashtra	 37500.00	 37500.00
			  - Bank Of Tokyo - Mitsubishi Ufj Ltd	 10500.00	 13500.00
			  - Canara Bank	 19987.67	 23987.67
 			  - Central Bank of India	 77975.00	 81645.00
			  - Centurion Bank of Punjab Ltd.	 1100.00	 1300.00
			  - Corporation Bank	 17347.00	 21679.00
			  - Dena Bank	 8238.00	 11418.00
			  - Development Credit Bank Ltd.	 781.25	 1093.75
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			  - Federal Bank Ltd.	 1000.00	 3000.00
			  - ICICI Bank Ltd.	 25000.00	 28846.15
			  - IDBI Ltd.	 16333.72	 25793.72
			  - Indian Bank	 2500.00	 4750.00
			  - Indian Overseas Bank	 3007.00	 4173.00
			   - Oriental Bank of Commerce	 3708.33	 4242.33
			  - Punjab & Sind Bank	 3340.00	 4006.00
			  - Punjab National Bank	 16513.00	 21845.00
			  - State Bank of Bikaner & Jaipur	 3250.00	 4750.00
			  - State Bank of Hyderabad	 24361.00	 28362.00
			  - State Bank of India	 9000.00	 20000.00
			  - State Bank of Indore	 6125.00	 7075.00
			  - State Bank of Mysore	 5000.00	 5500.00
			  - State Bank of Patiala	 25300.07	 27300.73
			  - State Bank of Saurashtra	 9000.00	 11100.00
			  - State Bank of Travancore	 22953.85	 25553.85
			  - Syndicate Bank	 12787.00	 17339.00
			  - The Jammu & Kashmir Bank Ltd.	 3673.00	 4339.00
			  - UCO Bank 	 20000.00	 20000.00
			  - Union Bank of India	 4000.00	 12000.00
			  - United Bank of India	 45010.00	 52342.00
			  - Vijaya Bank	 3007.00	 3673.00

			  Total B (i)	 543971.48	 643619.79

		 B. (ii) SHORT TERM LOANS FROM BANKS
			  - Punjab & Sind Bank	 35000.00	  -
			  - United Bank of India	 15000.00	  -
			  - South Indian Bank	  -   	 350.00
			  - The Jammu & Kashmir Bank Ltd.	  -   	 9000.00
			  - Vijaya Bank	  -   	 27000.00

			  Total B (ii)	 50000.00	 36350.00

			  Total (B) [B(i)+B(ii)]	 593971.48	 679969.79

			  TOTAL (A) + (B)	 2240248.18	 1884459.82

			  (Repayable within one year Rs 121532 Lacs; 
			  Previous Year Rs 135997 Lacs)

		 LOANS - OUTSIDE INDIA  
		 C. 	(Secured by first floating charge on all the assets of the 
			  Company,  ranking pari-passu inter se)
			  Foreign Currency Loan -  Bank of India 	 19776.90	 16800.00

			  TOTAL (C)	 19776.90	 16800.00

			  (i) TOTAL (A) + (B) + (C )	 2260025.08	 1901259.82
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	2.	UNSECURED LOANS
		 A. 	LOANS -  IN INDIA
			  SHORT TERM LOANS
			  From Banks
			  - Corporation Bank	 39084.00	 25000.00
			  - Bank of Maharashtra	 10096.00	 10000.00
			  - Vijaya Bank 	 13396.00	 39500.00
			  - State Bank of Hyderabad	 10740.00	  -
			  - Bank of India	 -	 25000.00
			  - State Bank of Indore	 -	 20000.00
			  - Indian Overseas Bank	 10000.00	 10000.00
			  - IndusInd Bank	 4300.00	  -
			  - Dena Bank	 13500.00	 15250.00
			  - Syndicate Bank	 -	 50000.00
			  - Union Bank of India	 13500.00	  -
				   114616.00	 194750.00
			  From Others
			  - RITES Ltd	 10000.00	  -
				   10000.00	 0.00

			  TOTAL (A)	 124616.00	 194750.00

		 B. 	LOANS - OUTSIDE INDIA  
			  Syndicated Japanese Yen Loan (Note No.8; Sch-16)	  -   	 1775.80
			  (Guaranteed by Goverment of India)
			  Syndicated Japanese Yen Loan (JPY14.72 Bn)	 63387.50	 50000.00
			  Export Development Canada-Line of Credit	 9216.95	 11218.74
			  Syndicated Foreign Currency Loan (US $ 75 Million)	  -   	  -
			  Syndicated Foreign Currency Loan (US $ 80 Million)	  -   	 34936.00
			  Syndicated Foreign Currency Loan (US $ 100 Million)	 43570.00	 43570.00
			  KFW,Germany-Line of Credit	 2640.16	 3706.13
			  1.43%, Euro-YEN Bonds-2010 (JPY 13 Bn.)	 53728.49	 53728.49
			  1.85%, JPY denominated Bonds-2009 (JPY 2.65 Bn.)	 12677.50	 10000.00
			  JPY-15 Bn. Samurai Bonds - 2012	 54911.79	 54911.79
			  US PP Bonds 2017	 63387.50	 50000.00
			  Syndicated Foreign Currency Loan (US $ 100 Million) 2008	 50710.00	  -

			  TOTAL (B)	 354229.89	 313846.95

			  (ii) TOTAL (A) + (B)	 478845.89	 508596.95

			  TOTAL (i)+(ii)	 2738870.96	 2409856.77
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SCHEDULE-4  		
FIXED ASSETS
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

SCHEDULE-5		
LONG TERM LOAN & ADVANCES
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 AS AT	 AS AT
		 31.03.2009	 31.03.2008

	Lease Receivable from Ministry of Railways	 2954844.40	 2507528.63
	Lease Rentals Paid in Advance (Note No. 12(a);  Schedule-16)	 40348.06	 58951.51
	LONG TERM LOANS 
	- Pipavav Railway Corporation Ltd. (Secured)	 2566.63	 3079.96
	- Ministry of Finance(Guaranteed by Govt. of India)	  -   	 1775.80
	- RailTel Corpn. Of India Ltd. (Unsecured, considered good)	 8332.00	 10416.00
	- Rail Vikas Nigam Ltd. (Unsecured, considered good)	 150100.00	 120800.00

	Total   	 3156191.09	 2702551.90
 

	 GROSS BLOCK	 DEPRECIATION	 NET BLOCK	

	 S.	 DESCRIPTION	 As at	 Additions	 Sale / 	 As at 	 Upto	 For the	 Adjust-	 As at	 As at	 As at
	 No.		  1.4.08	 during	 Adjust-	 31.3.09	 31.3.08	 Year	 ments	 31.3.09	 31.3.09	 31.3.08
				    the year	 ment 				    during
					     during 				    the
					     the year				    year

 1.	 Office Building	 1524.23	 0.00	 0.00	 1524.23	 175.43	 24.85	 0.00	 200.28	 1323.95	1348.80
 2.	 Airconditioners,
		  Room Coolers /
		  Heaters	 17.29	 0.73	 0.00	 18.02	 5.81	 0.85	 0.00	 6.66	 11.36	 11.48
 3.	 Office Equipments	 13.77	 1.30	 0.02	 15.05	 4.65	 0.75	 0.39	 5.01	 10.04	 9.12
 4.	 Furniture & Fixtures	 82.19	 0.00	 0.00	 82.19	 38.94	 5.16	 0.01	 44.09	 38.10	 43.25
 5.	 Franking Machine	 1.30	 0.68	 1.30	 0.68	 0.61	 0.03	 0.61	 0.03	 0.65	 0.69
 6.	 Computer	 50.76	 5.23	 0.00	 55.99	 49.93	 4.48	 7.92	 46.49	 9.50	 0.83
 7.	 Motor Car	 7.01	 0.00	 0.00	 7.01	 4.71	 0.41	 0.20	 4.92	 2.09	 2.30
 8.	 Photo Copier	 2.35	 0.00	 0.00	 2.35	 0.32	 0.11	 0.00	 0.43	 1.92	 2.04
 9.	 Water Cooler	 0.29	 0.00	 0.00	 0.29	 0.08	 0.01	 0.00	 0.09	 0.20	 0.21
 10. 	 Electric-Installation 	 1.80	 0.00	 0.00	 1.80	 0.43	 0.09	 0.00	 0.52	 1.28	 1.37

           Total	 1700.99	 7.94	 1.32	 1707.61	 280.91	 36.74	 9.13	 308.52	 1399.09	1420.08

           Previous Year	 1697.92	 5.04	 1.97	 1700.99	 240.76	 41.04	 0.89	 280.91	 1420.08	  -

SCHEDULE-6		
INVESTMENTS
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 AS AT	 AS AT
		 31.03.2009	 31.03.2008

	LONG TERM (at Cost)
	Unquoted - Non Trade
	- 	 24,400 (P.Y. 24,400) Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid up
		 of IRCON International Ltd. 	 199.85	 199.85

	Total   	 199.85	 199.85

	Aggregate value of Unquoted Investments	 199.85	 199.85 
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SCHEDULE-7		
CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS & ADVANCES
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 AS AT	 AS AT
		 31.03.2009	 31.03.2008

	A.	 CURRENT ASSETS
		 1. Cash & Bank Balances
			  (a)	 Balance in Franking Machine	 0.19	 0.09

			  (b)	 Deposit with Reserve Bank of India 	 1.02	 1.02
				   -	 In Public Deposit A/c.

			  (c) 	 Balance with Scheduled Banks - In India
				   -	 In Term Deposit Account		
            		  Corporation Bank	 75.00	  -   
            		  Canara Bank	 45100.00	  -   
            		  Development Credit Bank Ltd.	 5000.00	 5000.00
					    Jammu & Kashmir Bank Ltd.	  -   	 10000.00
					    UCO Bank	  -   	 30000.00
            		  ICICI Bank Ltd.	 5000.00	  -   
            		  South Indian Bank Ltd.	  -   	 10000.00
            		  State Bank of Indore	 12533.00	  -   
            		  The Federal Bank Ltd.	 5000.00	 5000.00
            		  IndusInd Bank Ltd.	 4967.00	 5000.00
           	 		  IDBI Bank Ltd.	  -   	 30000.00
            		  HDFC Bank Ltd.	 5000.00	  -   
            		  Vijaya Bank	  -   	 50000.00
					    Indian Overseas Bank	 12400.00	  -
					    Andhra Bank	 5000.00	  -
				   - 	 In Current Account 
					    State Bank of India	 0.05	 0.05
					    Corporation Bank              	 17.04	 2.42
					    Indian Bank                         	 2.71	 2.70
					    State Bank of Travancore	 0.21	 0.21
					    Vijaya Bank	 18.94	 2.01
					    Indian Overseas Bank	 4.92	 1.35
					    Bank of India	 0.23	 0.23
				   - 	 In Intt./Redmn. A/cs (Note no.14(a); Sch-16) (as per Contra)	 1153.68	 5209.33

						     101273.99	 150219.41

		 2.   Interest Accrued on Loans and Deposits	 36028.03	 22789.42

			  TOTAL (A)	 137302.02	 173008.83
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	B.	 LOANS & ADVANCES (Unsecured considered good)
		 (i)	 Indian Railways -		
          - Recoverable on account of Exchange Rate Variation 	 21950.84	 -9704.26
          - Advance for Assets Acquisition                                	 -7950.30	 425.01
          - Indian Railways Running Account	 -354.17	 19751.56

					    13646.37	 10472.31
		 (ii)	 Advance to Corporation Bank	  -   	 2000.00
		 (iii)	 Bridge Loan to Rail Land Development Authority	  -   	 6600.00
		 (iv) 	Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received
			  (a)	 Security Deposits	 9.06	 9.06
			  (b) 	 Advance to FA & CAO, Northern Railway,
				   for Residential flats 	 253.01	 253.01
			  (c) 	 Interest Restructuring Advance to LIC	 362.53	 564.05
				   (Note No.23(a); Sch-16)
			  (d) 	 Interest Restructuring Advance to IDBI	 194.33	 302.48
				   (Note No.23(b);Sch-16)
			  (e) 	 House Building Advance (Secured by Mortgage of House)	 1.40	 1.52
			  (f) 	 Amount recoverable from others	 70.14	 151.08
			  (g) 	 Income tax paid including tax deducted at source 	 26744.79	 21724.61
			  (h) 	 Interest recoverable from IT Deptt. (Note No.25; Sch-16)	 1349.11	  -

			  TOTAL (B)	 42630.74	 42078.12

			  TOTAL (A)+(B)	 179932.76	 215086.95

SCHEDULE-7 Contd....		
CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS & ADVANCES
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 AS AT	 AS AT
		 31.03.2009	 31.03.2008
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	A.	 CURRENT LIABILITIES 
		 1.	 Interest Accrued but not due on Bonds	 59074.03	 44131.47
		 2.	 Interest Accrued  but not due on Term Loans	 6252.17	 7936.43
		 3.	 Interest Accrued but not due on Foreign Currency Loans	 2031.49	 1406.70
		 4.	 Other Liabilities	 739.72	 670.56
		 5.	 Payable to Others	 1067.47	 921.07
		 6.	 Tax Deducted at Source - Payable	 622.67	 1501.02
		 7.	 Assets Securitisation gain-unamortised amount (Note No.15;Sch-16)	 6431.02	  - 
		 8.	 Liability on account of unclaimed Intt./Redmn. A/cs	 1153.68	 5209.33

		 TOTAL (A)	 77372.25	 61776.58

	B. 	PROVISIONS 
		 1.	 Income Tax	 21100.99	 17843.91
		 2.	 Proposed Final Dividend 	  -   	  -
		 3.	 Dividend Tax	  -   	 1699.50
		 4.	 Fringe Benefit Tax	 18.96	 16.32
		 5.	 Gratuity	 22.52	 18.84
		 6.	 Leave Encashment	 20.88	 25.32

			  TOTAL (B)	 21163.35	 19603.89

			  TOTAL (A)+(B)	 98535.60	 81380.47

SCHEDULE-8 		
CURRENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS

	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 AS AT	 AS AT
		 31.03.2009	 31.03.2008

	Miscellaneous Income	 4.29	 4.16
	Gain on securitisation / assignment of lease receivables	 936.72	 2778.41

	TOTAL			  941.01	 2782.57

	Interest on Bonds - Non Cumulative	 119454.65	 85989.00
	Interest on Rupee Loans	 70516.05	 74943.18
	Interest on Foreign Currency Loans (Including Swap Cost)	 19620.24	 19749.96
	Interest to Indian Railways	 6688.68	 346.28

	TOTAL			  216279.62	 181028.42

SCHEDULE-9  		
OTHER INCOME
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 YEAR ENDED	 YEAR ENDED
		 31.03.2009	 31.03.2008

SCHEDULE-10  		
INTEREST ON BONDS AND LOANS
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 YEAR ENDED	 YEAR ENDED
		 31.03.2009	 31.03.2008
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	Basic Pay		  44.49	 26.39
	Dearness Allowance	 14.88	 16.85
	City Compensatory Allowance 	 0.49	 0.54
	Hindi Allowance	 0.11	 0.06
	House Rent Allowance	 3.75	 2.68
	Children Education Allowance / Assistance	 1.48	  1.93 
	Employer's Contribution to P.F.	 8.18	 4.30
	Performance Related Pay / Incentive	 22.93	 8.41
	Gratuity		  8.57	 3.02
	Medical Allowance / Reimbursement 	 4.60	 3.19
	Leave Travel Assistance 	 0.80	 0.14
	Leave Encashment	 8.37	 10.57
	Self Leased Accomodation / Leased Accomodation	 6.79	 5.47
	Arrears of Salary (from 01.01.2007 to 31.03.2008)	 28.88	 4.95
	Foreign Service Contribution	 8.10	 2.11
	Attendant / Washing Allowance	 2.12	 2.07
	Staff Welfare	 0.89	 2.39
	Transport Allowance	 0.05	  -   
	Electricity Charges / News Paper Charges Reimbursement	 0.66	 0.39

	Total 		  166.14	 95.46

SCHEDULE-11  		
SALARY & OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 YEAR ENDED	 YEAR ENDED
		 31.03.2009	 31.03.2008
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SCHEDULE-12  		
ADMINISTRATIVE & OTHER EXPENSES
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 YEAR ENDED	 YEAR ENDED
		 31.03.2009	 31.03.2008

	Filing Fee		  0.10	 0.03
	Legal & Professional Charges	 57.65	 43.69
	Advertisement & Publicity	 18.53	 13.65
	Printing & Copying Charges	 2.49	 3.45
	Stationery Charges	 5.28	 4.23
	News Paper, Books & Periodicals	 0.68	 0.32
	Conveyance Expenses 	 8.00	 6.49
	Travelling - Local		
 	- Directors		  10.37	 8.64
 - Others		  11.64	 9.41
	Travelling - Foreign		
 - Directors		  30.27	 4.82
 - Others		  6.10	 5.85
	Transport Hire Charges	 22.30	 21.64
	Office Maintenance Expenses	 22.91	 24.84
	Vehicle Running & Maintenance 	 2.54	 1.67
	Office Equipment Maintenance	 6.34	 7.50
	Electricity Charges	 9.54	 9.77
	Loss on Sale of Fixed Assets	 0.61	 0.95
	Postage Charges	 2.23	 1.65
	Telephone Charges	 8.24	 8.16
	Training Expenses	 4.95	 4.44
	Honorarium	 0.01	  -   
	Bank Charges	 0.36	 0.01
	Payment to Auditors		
  - Audit Fees	 2.48	 3.37
  - Tax Audit Fee	 0.83	 1.04
  - Certification etc.	 3.25	 4.35
  - Reimbursement  of Expenses	 0.31	 0.08
	Miscellaneous Expenses	 20.70	 25.30
	Insurance		  0.25	 0.10
	Fees & Subscription	 2.21	 8.03
	Sponsorship/Donation	 200.75	 6.55
	Salary & Stipend	 0.10	  -   
	Ground Rent	 1.01	 1.24
	Property Tax	 1.31	 1.31

	Total			  464.34	 232.59



44

	Listing Fee		  8.36	 7.65
	Bond Holder Trustee Fee	 36.33	 34.33
	Surveillance/Rating Fee	 128.06	 97.35
	Registrar Fee	 8.56	 9.98
	Postage & Telegram Charges	 2.44	 1.32
	Printing & Copying Charges	  -   	 0.14
	Other Expenses	 1.63	 1.51

	Total 		  185.38	 152.28

SCHEDULE-13  		
BOND SERVICING EXPENSES
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 YEAR ENDED	 YEAR ENDED
		 31.03.2009	 31.03.2008

SCHEDULE-14  		
BOND ISSUE EXPENSES/ EXPENSES ON LOANS
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 YEAR ENDED	 YEAR ENDED
		 31.03.2009	 31.03.2008

	A. 	Bond Issue Expenses
		 Rating Fee	 67.98	 103.84

		 Total  (A)	 67.98	 103.84

	B. Expenses on Foreign Currency Loans		
 		 - Underwriting / Arranger  Fee	 851.46	  -   
 		 - Out of Pocket Expenses	 15.57	  -   
 		 - Other Expenses	 25.52	 73.87

		 Total   (B)	 892.55	 73.87

	C.	 Expenses on Securitisation
		 - Legal & Professional Charges	 2.00	  - 
		 - Rating Fees	 4.41	  -   
 		 - Stamping Fees	 1.02	  -   
 		 - Registrar Fees	 0.68	  -   
 		 - Trusteeship Fee	 0.61	  -

		 Total   (C)	 8.72	  - 

		 Total (A+B+C)	 969.25	 177.71
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SCHEDULE-15  		
PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS
	 (Rs. in Lacs)

	DESCRIPTION	 YEAR ENDED	 YEAR ENDED
		 31.03.2009	 31.03.2008

	INCOME 	 	
	Interest on Housing Building Advances	 0.36	  - 

	Total (A)		  0.36	  - 

	EXPENDITURE		
	Interest on Bonds / Foreign Currency Loans	 (10.96)	  -   
	Bond Servicing - Surveillance	 2.30 	
	Depreciation	 (8.26)	
	Loss on Sale of Fixed Assets	 (0.23)	
	Office Equipment Repair & Maintenance Expenses	  -   	 0.02
	Processing Agent Fee	  -   	 0.55
	Legal & Professional 	 1.35 	 11.87
	Registrar Fee	 0.13 	  -   
	Rating Fee	  	 -   	 17.24
	News Paper, Books & Periodicals	  -   	 0.01
	Gifts			   0.37 	  -   
	Transport Hire Charges	  -   	 (0.15)
	Payment to Auditors - Tax Audit Fee	 0.09 	  -   
	Filing Fee-ROC for increase in Authorised Capital	 20.00 	
	Fee & Subscription	 0.01 	 0.25
	Bank Charges	  -   	 0.06
	Misc. Exp.	  	 -   	 0.04
	Advertisement & Publicity	  -   	 4.00
	Service Tax	 	 -   	 132.84

	Total (B)		  4.80	 166.73

	PRIOR PERIOD INCOME (Net) (A-B)	 (4.44)	 (166.73)
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A.	Significant Accounting Policies

1.	 Basis for preparation of Financial Statements

a)	 The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, in accordance with the 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, the Provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 and the applicable 
guidelines issued by the Reserve Bank of India as adopted consistently by the Company.

b)	U se of Estimates

	 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of asset and 
liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Examples of such estimates 
include estimated useful life of fixed assets and estimated useful life of leased assets. Management 
believes that estimates used in the preparation of financial statements are prudent and reasonable. Actual 
results could differ from these estimates. Adjustments as a result of differences between actual and 
estimates are made prospectively.

2.	 Revenue Recognition

a)	 Lease Income in respect of assets given on lease (including assets given prior to 01-04-2001) is recognised 
in accordance with the accounting treatment provided in Accounting Standard -19.

b)	 Lease Rentals on assets taken on lease and sub-leased to Ministry of Railways (MOR) prior to 01.04.2001, 
are accounted for at the rates of lease rentals provided in the agreements with the respective lessors and 
the sub-lessee (MOR), on accrual basis, as per the Revised Guidance Note on accounting for Leases 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI).

c)	 Interest Income is recognised on time proportion basis. Dividend Income is recognised when the right to 
receive payment is established.

d)	 Income relating to non performing assets is recognised on receipt basis in accordance with the guidelines 
issued by the Reserve Bank of India.

3.	 Foreign Currency Transactions

a)	 Initial Recognition

	 At the  rates prevailing on the date of transaction

	 i) for acquisition of assets, and

	 ii) for interest payment on Loans, Commitment Charges and expenses.

b)	 Recognition at the end of Accounting Period

	 Foreign Currency monetary assets and liabilities, other than the foreign currency liabilities swapped into 
Indian Rupees, are reported using the closing exchange rate in terms of the provisions of AS 11 issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

	 Foreign Currency Liabilities swapped into Indian Rupees are stated at the reference rates fixed in the 
swap transactions, and not translated at the year end rate. 

c)	 Exchange Differences

i)	 Exchange differences arising on the actual settlement of monetary assets and liabilities at rates different 
from those at which they were initially recorded during the year, or reported in previous financial 
statements, other than the exchange differences on settlement of foreign currency loans and interest 
thereon recoverable separately from the lessee under the lease agreements, are recognised as income 
or expenses in the year in which they arise.

ii)	 Notional Exchange Differences arising on reporting of outstanding long term foreign currency 

SCHEDULE-16  		
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES ON ACCOUNTS
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monetary assets and liabilities at rates different from those at which they were initially recorded 
during the year, or reported in previous financial statements, other than the exchange differences on 
translation of foreign currency loans and interest thereon recoverable separately from the lessee under 
the lease agreements, are transferred to a 'Foreign Currency Monetary Item Translation Difference 
Account' in terms of the notification no. F. No. 17/33/2008/CL-V dated 31st March 2009 issued by 
the Government of India, Ministry of Corporate Affairs in modification of AS-11. 

iii)	In respect of forward exchange contracts, the difference between the forward rate and exchange rate 
on the date of transaction are recognised as income or expenses over the life of the contract.

4.	 Investments  

	 Investments are classified into long term investments and current investments based on intent of management 
at the time of making the investment. Investments intended to be held for more than one year, are classified 
as long-term investments.

	 Current investments are valued at lower of cost or market value. Long-term investments are valued at cost 
unless there is depreciation, other than temporary, in their value. 

5.	 Leased Assets   

	 Lease arrangements where the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset substantially vest with 
the lessee , are recognised as financial  leases and are shown as Receivable in the Balance Sheet at an 
amount equal to the net investment in the lease, in accordance with Accounting Standard-19 'Leases' issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

6.	 Fixed Assets

	 Fixed assets are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Costs include all expenses incurred to bring 
the assets to their present location and condition. 

	 Depreciation on fixed assets is charged on straight line method at the rates prescribed in Schedule XIV to 
the Companies Act, 1956, on pro-rata basis.

7. 	 (a)	Securitisation of Lease Receivables

		  Lease Receivables securitised out to Special Purpose Vehicle in a securitisation transaction are                    
de-recognised in the balance sheet when they are transferred and consideration has been received by 
the Company. In terms of the guidelines on Securitisation of Standard Assets issued by the Reserve Bank 
of India vide their circular no.DBOD.No.B.P.BC.60/21.04.048/2005-06 dated 1st February 2006, the 
Company amortises any profit arising from the securitisation over the life of the Pass Through Certificates 
(PTCs) / Securities issued by the Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV). Loss, if any, is recognised immediately 
in the Profit & Loss Account.

	 (b)	Assignment of Lease Receivables

		  Lease Receivables assigned through direct assignment route are de-recognised in the balance sheet 
when they are transferred and consideration has been received by the Company. Profit or loss resulting 
from such assignment is accounted for in the year of transaction.

8.	 Bond Issue Expenses and Expenses on Loans, Leases and Securitisation Transaction

a)	 Bond Issue expenses including management fee on issue of bonds (except discount on deep discount 
bonds) incurred during the year are charged to Profit and Loss Account. Upfront discount on deep 
discount bonds is amortised over the tenor of the bonds.

b)	 Documentation, processing & other charges paid on Long Term Loans are charged to the Profit & Loss 
Account in the year loan is sanctioned / availed.

c)	 Incidental expenses incurred in connection with the Securitisation transaction executed during the year 
are charged to the Profit and Loss Account.

9.	 Taxes on Income

	 Tax expense comprises of Current Tax, Deferred Tax and Fringe Benefit Tax. 
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	 Provision for current income tax and fringe benefit tax is made in accordance with the provisions of the 
Income Tax Act, 1961.

	 Deferred tax expense or benefit is recognised on timing differences, being the difference between taxable 
incomes and accounting income, that originate in one period and are capable of reversal in one or more 
subsequent periods. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates and tax laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by balance sheet date.

10.	 Employee Benefits

	 Employee Benefits are valued and disclosed in the Annual Accounts in accordance with Accounting 
Standard-15 (Revised).

a)	 Short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense at the undiscounted amount in the Profit & 
Loss Account of the year in which the related service is rendered.

b)	 Long-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense in the Profit & Loss Account for the year in 
which the employee has rendered services. The expense is recognised at the present value of the amount 
payable as per actuarial valuations. Actuarial gain and losses in respect of such benefits are recognised 
in the Profit and Loss Account.

11.	 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

	 The Company recognises provisions when it has a present obligation as a result of a past event. This occurs 
when it becomes probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits might be required to 
settle the obligation and when a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

	 Provisions are determined based on management estimate required to settle the obligation at the balance 
sheet date. These are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current management 
estimates. In cases where the available information indicates that the loss on the contingency is reasonably 
possible but the amount of loss cannot be reasonably estimated, a disclosure is made in the financial 
statements.

	 Contingent Assets, if any, are not recognised in the financial statements since this may result in the 
recognition of income that may never be realised.

Notes on Accounts

1.	 (a)	 Lease rental has been charged on the assets leased from the first day of the month in which the assets have 
been identified and placed on line.

	 (b)	 Ministry of Railways (MOR) has charged  interest on the value of the assets identified prior to the payments 
made by the company, from the first day of the month in which the assets have been identified and placed 
on line to the  first day of the month in which the money  is paid to the MOR. However, no interest is 
charged from the MOR on the amount paid by the company prior to the identification of Rolling stock by 
them.

	 (c)	 (i) 	 Interest rate variation on the floating rate linked rupee borrowings and interest rate and exchange rate 
variations on interest payments in case of the foreign currency borrowings are adjusted against the 
Lease Income in terms of the variation clauses in the lease agreements executed with the Ministry of 
Railways. During the year, such differential has resulted in an amount of Rs.8258 Lacs accruing to 
Company (P.Y. Rs.7773 Lacs), which has been accounted for in the Lease Income.

	 (ii) 	 In respect of foreign currency borrowings, which have not been hedged, a variation clause has been 
incorporated in the lease agreements specifying the notional swap cost adopted for working out 
the cost of funds on the leases executed with MOR. Swap Cost in respect of these foreign currency 
borrowings is compared with the amount recovered by the company on such account and accordingly, 
the same is adjusted against the lease income. During the year 2008 - 09, in respect of these foreign 
currency borrowings, the company has recovered a sum of Rs.3125 Lacs (P.Y. Rs.2980 Lacs)  on this 
account from MOR against the actual swap cost payments of Rs.4737 Lacs (P.Y. Rs.3788 Lacs). After 
adjusting swap cost, an amount of Rs.1612 Lacs has been recovered from MOR (P.Y. Rs.808 Lacs). 
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	 (iii) 	Interest expense in respect of interest accrued but not due on the foreign currency loans has been 
considered at base interest / exchange rate and the difference on account of variation between base 
rate and the rate prevailing on the reported date has been shown as recoverable / payable to MOR. 
During the current year, the amount recoverable from MOR on such account works out to Rs.61 Lacs 
(P.Y. Payable Rs.87lacs).  

2.	 (a)	 Non-Banking Financial (Non-Deposit Accepting or Holding) Companies Prudential Norms (Reserve Bank) 
Directions, 2007 has been issued by the Reserve Bank of India vide notification no.DNBS.193 DG(VL)-
2007 dated 22nd February 2007. The Company, being a Government Company and not accepting / holding 
public deposits, these Directions, except the provisions contained in Paragraph 19 of the said directions, 
are not applicable to the Company.

	 (b)	 In terms of Reserve Bank of India Notification No.DNBC.138/CGM (VSNM)-2000 dated 13th January 
2000, the provisions of Section 45 IC of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (2 of 1934) regarding creation 
of Reserve Fund, do not apply to the Company.

3.	 The Finance Act, 2001 provides for levy of service tax on the finance and interest charges recovered through 
lease rental instalments on the Financial Leases entered on or after 16-07-2001. The Central Government , vide 
Order No.1/1/2003-ST dated 30th April 2003 and subsequent clarification dated 15-12-2006 issued by Ministry 
of Finance has exempted the Lease Agreements entered between the Company and Ministry of Railways from 
the levy of Service Tax thereon.

4.	 In terms of the Companies (Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2009 issued by the Government  of India, 
Ministry of Corporate Affairs vide Notification No.F.No.17/33/2008/CL-V dated 31st March 2009, the Company 
has opted to transfer the notional exchange rate variation loss amounting to Rs.4306.52 Lacs on revaluation 
of long term foreign currency items to 'Foreign Currency Monetary Item Translation Difference Account'. 
Further, the notional exchange rate variation gain amounting to Rs.926.51 Lacs (net of tax) recognised in the 
Profit and Loss Account and pertaining to the accounting periods commencing after 7th Dec 2006 (i.e. for the 
Financial Year 2007 - 08) has been reversed and transferred to Foreign Currency Monetary Item Translation 
Difference Account by debiting to General Reserve.  A sum of Rs.29.47 Lacs on account of notional exchange 
rate variation for the year ending 31.03.2008 and pertaining to the principal repayments made in 2008 - 09 
has been transferred to General Reserve. The amount of Rs.3409.48 Lacs outstanding in the 'Foreign Currency 
Monetary Item Translation Difference Account' as on 31st March 2009 will be amortised over the balance tenor 
of the monetary items to which they pertain but not beyond 31st March 2011. The position with regard to the 
amortisation in future, of the amount lying in Foreign Currency Monetary Item Translation Difference Account, 
is as follows:

Year Amount (Rs. In Lacs)

2009-10 3021.37

2010-11 388.11

5.	 Increase in liability due to exchange rate variation on foreign currency loans for purchase of leased assets, 
amounting to Rs.31819 Lacs (P.Y. decrease in liability Rs.10800 Lacs) has not been transferred to Foreign 
Currency Translation Difference Account as the same is recoverable from the Ministry of Railways (lessee) 
separately as per lease agreements. The exchange rate variation on foreign currency loans repaid during the 
year amounting to Rs.164 Lacs (P.Y. Rs.169 Lacs) has been recovered from the Lessee, leaving a balance of 
Rs.21951 Lacs receivable from MOR as on 31-03-2009 (P.Y. Rs.9704 Lacs payable to MOR).

6.	 Derivative Instruments

	 The Company judiciously contracts financial derivative instruments in order to hedge currency and / or interest 
rate risk. All derivative transactions contracted by the company are in the nature of hedging instruments with 
a defined underlying liability. The company does not deploy any financial derivative for speculative or trading 
purposes.
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(a)	 In respect of certain foreign currency borrowings, the company has executed currency swaps to hedge the 
exchange rate variation risk on the principal outstanding. The outstanding position of such currency swaps 
as at 31st  March 2009 is as follows:

As on 31.03.2009 As on 31.03.2008

Remarks
No. of 
Contracts

Borrowing 
outstanding in 
foreign currency

Notional INR 
Equivalent

No. of 
Contracts

Borrowing 
outstanding in 
foreign currency

Notional 
INR 
Equivalent

2 USD 105.10 
Million

45964.45 
Lacs

3 USD 187.14 
Million

81858.23 
Lacs

--

1 JPY 13.00 Billion 53728.49 
Lacs

1 JPY 13.00 Billion 53728.49 
Lacs

Swap cost 
recoverable 
from MOR.

	 In respect of some of its External Commercial Borrowings, the Company has executed cross currency 
swaps to hedge the principal outstanding and converted its underlying liability from one foreign currency 
to another. The outstanding position of such cross currency swaps as at 31st March 2009 is as follows:

As on 31.03.2009 As on 31.03.2008

No. of 
Contracts

Borrowing 
outstanding in 
Foreign Currency

Notional USD 
Equivalent

No. of 
Contracts

Borrowing 
outstanding in 
Foreign Currency

Notional USD 
Equivalent

1 JPY 2.65 Billion USD 25 Million 1 JPY 2.65 Billion USD 25 Million 

1 JPY 14.71875 
Billion

USD 125 Million 1 JPY 14.71875 
Billion

USD 125 Million

	 In respect of the following External Commercial Borrowings, the Company has executed currency swap to 
hedge the foreign exchange exposure in respect of both principal outstanding and interest payments:

As on 31.03.2009 As on 31.03.2008

No. of 
Con-
tracts

Borrowing 
outstanding in 
Foreign Currency

Notional INR 
Equivalent

No. of 
Contracts

Borrowing 
outstanding in 
Foreign Currency

Notional INR 
Equivalent

1 JPY 15 Billion 54911.79 Lacs 1 JPY 15 Billion 54911.79 Lacs

	 The foreign currency borrowings outstanding as on 31.03.2009, which have not been hedged are as 
follows:

As on 31.03.2009 As on 31.03.2008
RemarksNo. of 

Loans
Borrowing 
outstanding in 
Foreign Currency

No. of 
Loans

Borrowing 
outstanding in 
Foreign Currency

1 USD 39 Million 1 USD 42 Million Back to Back recovery of exchange rate 
variation from MOR.

2 USD 13.45 Million 2 USD 19.68 Million --

2 USD 225 Million 1 USD 125 Million Back to Back recovery of exchange rate 
variation from MOR.

1 Euro 4.88 Million 1 Euro 5.86 Million --

0 Nil 1 JPY 442.702 Million Back to Back recovery of exchange rate 
variation from MOF.
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(b)	 The Company has one (P.Y one) Interest Rate Cap (IRC) outstanding in respect of a foreign currency 
borrowing to hedge its floating rate liability linked to Libor.  IRC has been executed on a notional principal 
amount of USD 100 Mio. (P.Y. USD 100 Mio.).

	 As part of hedging strategy, the Company has six (P.Y. six) Interest Rate Swaps / Currency Swaps (coupon 
only) outstanding on fixed interest rate rupee borrowings by taking benefit of interest rate movement. The 
INR value of the outstanding borrowings on which such Swaps have been executed is Rs.162000 Lacs 
(P.Y. Rs.162000 Lacs).

7.	 Office Building including parking area has been capitalised from the date of taking possession. However, 
the sale / transfer deed is still pending for execution in favour of the company. Stamp duty payable on the 
registration of office building works out to about Rs.91 Lacs (P.Y. Rs.91 Lacs), which will be accounted for on 
registration.

8.	 Syndicated Japanese Yen Loan on behalf of Ministry of Finance

	 During the year 1998 - 99, the company raised JPY 8854.65 million through Syndicated Japanese Yen Loan on 
behalf of Ministry of Finance (MOF) and repaid an outstanding loan of Exim Bank of Japan through refinancing. 
The said Syndicated loan was renegotiated during the year 2002 - 03. The interest as well as repayment of loan 
is serviced by the MOF. Full amount of JPY 8854.65 million (P.Y. JPY 8411.95 Million) of the refinanced loan 
has been repaid till date leaving a balance of JPY nil (Rs. Nil) as on 31-03-2009 (P.Y. JPY 442.70 Million or 
Rs.1776 Lacs). Interest payment on the loan amounting to Rs.22.44 Lacs (P.Y. Rs.105.78 Lacs) and recoverable 
from Ministry of Finance has not been considered as part of expenses / income and the same has not been 
routed through Profit & Loss Account. 

9.	 Salary, Allowances and other benefits to Directors of the Company
                                                                  (Rs. in Lacs)

Particulars 2008-09 2007-08

a. Salary / Allowances 29.30 10.05

b. Incentive Nil 0.98

c. Sitting fee paid to Non-Executive Directors 0.75 0.80

	 In addition, Managing Director has been allowed use of staff car for personal use upto 1000 kms on payment of 
Rs.600/- per month, in accordance with the notification of the Govt. of India, Ministry of Finance, Department 
of Public Enterprises OM No.2(18)/PC/64 dated 20th November, 1964 as amended.

10.	 Contingent Liabilities

(a)	 Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts - Claims by bondholders in the Consumer Courts: 
Rs.50 Lacs (P.Y. Rs.48 Lacs) and Rs. 30 Lacs against the damages of property on vacation of old office 
premises in the Civil Court.

(b)	 The Income Tax assessments of the Company have been completed up to Assessment Year 2006 - 07. The 
disputed demand outstanding upto the said Assessment year is Rs. 16.54 crore against which Rs. 16.50 
crore has been deposited by the Company under protest and the appeals of the company are pending at 
various appellate levels. Based on decisions of the Appellate authorities in other similar matters and the 
interpretation of other relevant provisions, the Company is confidant that the demands are likely to be 
either deleted or substantially reduced and accordingly no provision has been considered necessary. 

(c)	 The company does not pay sales tax on purchase of leased assets. Sales tax on the purchase / lease 
of rolling stock, if it becomes payable, is recoverable from Ministry of Railways in terms of the lease 
agreements. Since, there is no sales tax demand and the amount is unascertainable, no provision is made 
in the accounts.

(d)	 The Companies (Second Amendment) Act, 2002 provides for levy of cess, towards rehabilitation / revival 
of sick industrial companies, which shall not be less than 0.005% but not more than 0.10% of the turnover 
or the gross receipts as the Central Government may from time to time specify by notification in the 
Official Gazette. Since no notification has been issued, provision for cess has not been made.
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11.	 Expenditure in Foreign Currency (on payment basis)

Particulars 2008 - 09
(Rs. in Lacs)

2007 - 08
(Rs. in Lacs)

a) Interest / Swap Cost on Foreign currency borrowings (Net of Amount 
recovered on account of IRS / IRC and from MoF)

13898.17 13959.60

b) Processing Agent / Fiscal Agent / Admn. fee (Net of Amount 
recovered from MoF)

13.23 16.42

c) Underwriting / Arranger fee 851.46 54.40

d) International Credit Rating Agencies Fees 42.46 74.60

e) Others 37.43 186.14

12.	 (a)	 The company has not taken on lease any Rolling Stock assets during the year. All the assets taken on 
lease were in the years prior to 01-04-2001, worth Rs.157082 Lacs (ownership of the same vests with the 
lessors) stand sub-leased to Ministry of Railways. The company has paid future lease rental liability on all 
the above leases as detailed below:

Year of 
Lease

No. of 
Leases

Value of assets taken 
on lease 

(Rs. In Lacs)

Amount paid in settlement 
of future lease rentals 

(Rs. in Lacs)

Year of 
payment

1999-00 6 102085 37492
3841

35534

2001-02
2002-03
2003-04

2000-01 2 54997 29423
22302

2001-02
2003-04

Total 8 157082 152899

	 The amount paid in settlement of future lease rentals as above, is being amortised in the accounts over 
the remaining period of the leases. During the year, an amount of Rs.18603 Lacs (Previous Year Rs.16749 
Lacs) has been charged to Profit & Loss Account on account of such amortisation.

	 Since the entire future lease rental liability has been paid, there is no liability payable for unexpired lease 
period (Previous Year-Nil).

(b)	 During the year 1999 - 2000, the company entered into 6 lease agreements, with the financial institutions 
/ banks as lessors, for a primary period of 10 years for an aggregate amount of Rs.102085 Lacs and                 
sub-leased the same to MOR for a period of 15 years. The company has paid upfront the future financial 
liability on all these leases.

	 Though, there is a mismatch in the tenor of the lease and sub-lease, there is no overall mismatch in the 
present value of entire lease rentals payable and receivable. During the year, the company received lease 
rentals of Rs.14088 Lacs (P.Y. Rs.14088 Lacs) and amortised (expensed) lease rentals of Rs.15092.40 Lacs 
(P.Y. Rs.13575.09 Lacs) on these transactions.

13.	 The balances under some items of Loans & Advances and current liabilities are subject to confirmation 
and reconciliation and consequential adjustments, wherever applicable. However, in the opinion of the 
Management, the realisable value of the current assets, loans and advances in the ordinary course of business 
will not be less than the value at which they are stated in the Balance Sheet.

14.	 (a) 	 The company discharges its obligation towards payment of interest and redemption of bonds, for which 
warrants are issued, by depositing the amount in the designated bank accounts. Reconciliation of such 
accounts is an ongoing process and has been completed upto 31-12-2008. The company does not foresee 
any additional liability on this account. The total balance held in such specified bank accounts as on 31-
03-2009 is Rs.1153.68 Lacs (Previous Year Rs.5209.33 Lacs).
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	 (b) 	 The Company is required to transfer any amount remaining unclaimed and unpaid in such interest 
and redemption accounts after the completion of 7 years to Investor Education Protection Fund (IEPF) 
administered by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Govt. of India. Accordingly, during the year, the 
Company deposited a sum of Rs.412.76 Lacs (P.Y. Rs.806.61 Lacs) in IEPF.

15.	 During the year, the Company executed an Asset Securitisation Transaction by securitising an identified portion 
of future lease rentals of Rs.116050.65 Lacs originating on its assets leased to Ministry of Railways during 
the year 1998 - 99. As part of the securitisation transaction, future lease rental amount as mentioned above 
was transferred to a bankruptcy remote Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) which, in turn, issued Pass Through 
Certificates (PTCs) to the prospective investors and realised a sum of Rs.96208.49 Lacs. The lease receivables 
have since been derecognised in the books of accounts of the company. The book value of these future lease 
receivables was Rs.88840.75 Lacs, resulting in a profit of Rs.7367.74 Lacs for the Company which as per RBI 
guidelines, is to be amortised over the life of the Pass Trough Certificates (PTCs) issued by the SPV. Out of 
the profit of Rs.7367.74 Lacs, a sum of Rs.936.72 Lacs pertaining to the current year has been recognised in 
the Profit and Loss Account, leaving a balance of Rs.6431.02 Lacs as on 31.3.2009 to be recognised over the 
remaining life of the PTCs.

16.	 Major components of net deferred tax liability are as under:
(Rs. in Lacs)

As at
31.03.2009

As at
31.03.2008

Liability on account of difference between WDV as per Income Tax Act and 
Companies Act

463774 438028

Less: Deferred Tax Asset on account of Unabsorbed Depreciation 238105 234718

Less: Deferred Tax Asset on account of MAT Credit 0 17830

Less: Deferred Tax Asset on Misc. Expenditure to be written off 5 --

Less: Deferred Tax Asset on account of Employee benefits 9 15

Net Deferred Tax Liability 225655 185465

	 The provision for Deferred Tax Liability for the current year is without considering Minimum Alternative Tax 
(MAT) credit as Deferred Tax Assets (DTA). Similarly, MAT credit of Rs. 17828 Lakhs considered as DTA during 
earlier years has also been reversed and provided as Deferred Tax Liability for earlier years in Profit & Loss 
Account.

17.	 Long Term Loans & Advances (Schedule 5) include Lease Receivables representing the present value of future 
Lease Rentals receivable on the finance lease transactions  entered  into  by  the company  since   inception as 
per the Accounting Standard (AS)-19 issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

	 The reconciliation of the Lease Receivable amount on the Gross value of Rolling Stock assets worth Rs. 4793863 
Lacs (P.Y. Rs.4198893 Lacs) owned by the company and leased to the Ministry of Railways is as under:

(Rs. in Lacs)

Particulars As at 
31.03.2009

As at 
31.03.2008 

A. Gross Value of Assets acquired & Leased upto the end of 
previous Financial Year

4094788 3738412

B. Less value of assets securitised/assigned during the year 173375 104105

C = (A - B) 3921413 3634307

D. Less: Capital Recovery provided upto last Year 1587259 1458703
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Particulars As at 
31.03.2009

As at 
31.03.2008 

E.  Less Capital Recovery provided upto last year on assets assigned 
during the year

70814 21419

F.  Capital Recovery upto last year (D - E) 1516445 1437284

G. Capital Recovery Outstanding on leased assets as at the end of 
last year (C - F)

2404968 2197023

H. Add: Gross Value of Assets acquired and Leased during the year 699075 460481

I=G+H 3104043 2657504

J.  Capital Recovery for the year 162919 155440

K.  Less: Capital Recovery for the year on assets securitised/as-
signed during the year

13720 5465

L. =J-K 149199 149975

Net investment in Lease Receivables 2954844 2507529

	 The value of contractual maturity of such leases as per AS-19 is as under:-
(Rs. in Lacs)

Particulars As at 
31.03.2009

As at 
31.03.2008

Gross Investment in Lease 4666575 3922010

Unearned Finance Income 1711731 1414481

Present Value of Minimum Lease Payment (MLP) 2954844 2507529

	 Gross Investment in Lease and Present value of Minimum Lease Payments (MLP) for each of the periods are as 
under:

(Rs. in Lacs)

      As at 31.03.2009       As at 31.03.2008

Particulars Gross
Investment

In Lease

Present
Value of

MLP

Gross
Investment

in Lease

Present
Value of

MLP

Less than one year 419891 174886 362746 154171

One to five years 1662584 774285 1439193 768048

Greater than five  Years 2584100 2005673 2120071 1585310

Total 4666575 2954844 3922010 2507529

	 The unearned finance income as on 31-03-2009 is Rs.1711731 Lacs (Previous Year Rs.1414481 Lacs).

	 The company has leased rolling stock assets to the Ministry of Railways (MOR). A separate lease agreement for 
each year of lease has been executed and as per the terms of the lease agreements, lease rentals are received 
half yearly in advance. The leases are non cancellable and shall remain in force until all amounts due under 
the lease agreements are received.

18.	 Hitherto, the Actuarial valuation for Gratuity and Leave Encashment was being done by the company as per the 
provisions of the payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. However, due to change in Accounting Policies, the method 
of Actuarial Valuation has been changed to Projected Unit Credit (PUC) Method.
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 	 As a result of adopting AS - 15 (Revised) the transitional differences (Net of Tax) amounting to Rs.11.38 Lacs as 
on 01-04-2008 has been transferred to the opening balance of General Reserve. 

	 Disclosures as required under AS - 15 (Revised) are as follows:

	 Table showing changes in Present Value of Defined Obligations as on 31.3.2009:	 (Rs. in Lacs)

Gratuity
(Non-Funded)

Leave Encashment
(Non-Funded)

Present value of Defined Benefit Obligation at the beginning of 
the year 

13.94 12.97

Interest Cost 1.12 1.04

Current Service Cost 1.09 0.96

Benefits Paid -- (0.45)

Actuarial (Gain) / Loss on obligations 6.37 6.37

Present value of Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of the year 22.52 20.88

	 Table showing changes in the Fair Value of Plan Assets as on 31.3.2009:	 (Rs. in Lacs)

Gratuity
(Non-Funded)

Leave Encashment
(Non-Funded)

Fair Value of Assets at the beginning of the year 0 0

Expected Return on plan assets 0 0

Contributions 0 0

Benefits Paid 0 0

Actuarial (Gain) / Loss on plan assets Nil Nil

Fair Value of Plan Assets at the end of the year 0 0

	 Table showing Fair Value of Plan Assets as on 31.3.2009:	 (Rs. Lacs)

Gratuity
(Non-Funded)

Leave Encashment
(Non-Funded)

Fair Value of Assets at the beginning of the year 0 0

Actual Return on plan assets 0 0

Contributions 0 0

Benefits Paid 0 0

Fair Value of Plan Assets at the end of the year 0 0

Funded status 0 0

Excess actual over estimated return on plan assets
(Actual rate of return = estimated rate of return as ARD falls 
on 31st March

Nil Nil

	 Actuarial Gain / Loss recognised as on 31.3.2009:	 (Rs. in Lacs)

Gratuity
(Non-Funded)

Leave Encashment
(Non-Funded)

Actuarial Gain / (Loss) for the year-obligation -6.37 -6.37

Actuarial Gain / (Loss) for the year plan assets Nil Nil

Total (Gain) / Loss 6.37 6.37

Actuarial (Gain) / Loss recognised in the year 6.37 6.37
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	 Amount to be recognised in the Balance Sheet	 (Rs. in Lacs)

Gratuity
(Non-Funded)

Leave Encashment
(Non-Funded)

Present value of obligations as at the end of the year 22.52 20.88

Fair Value of plan assets 0 0

Funded status -22.52 -20.88

Net Asset / (Liability) recognised in the Balance Sheet 22.52 20.88

	 Expenses recognised in statement of Profit & Loss:	 (Rs. in Lacs)

Gratuity
(Non-Funded)

Leave Encashment
(Non-Funded)

Current Service Cost 1.09 0.96

Interest Cost 1.12 1.04

Expected return on plan assets 0 0

Net Actuarial (Gain) / Loss recognised in the year 6.37 6.37

Expenses recognised in Statement of Profit & Loss 8.58 8.37

	 Actuarial Assumptions:	 (Rs. in Lacs)

As on 31.03.2009 As on 31.03.2008

Discount rate 8% 8%

Salary Escalation 5% 5%

	 In terms of the transitional provision of AS 15 (Revised), excess liability (Net of Deferred Tax Assets) appearing 
in the books of accounts as on 01.04.2008 amounting to Rs.11.39 Lacs has been transferred to the opening 
balance of General Reserve Account. 

19.	 In accordance with Accounting Standard 29, particulars of provisions are as under:

2008-09 2007-08

Incentives/PRP Gratuity & Leave 
Encashment

Incentives/PRP Gratuity & Leave 
Encashment

Opening Balance 5.50 44.17 4.63 31.96

Addition during the year 12.50 16.94 5.50 13.59

Amount used / incurred 12.06 0.46 4.75 1.38

Unused Amount reversed 
during the year

(6.56) 17.25 (0.12) --

Closing Balance 12.50 43.40 5.50 44.17

	 The above provisions are liabilities in accordance with terms of employment. Payment of Incentives/ 
Performance Related Pay (PRP) shall be made as and when they became due. Provision for Gratuity is in 
accordance with the Accounting Standard 15 (Revised) and that for leave encashment is as per Company's 
policy.

20.	 The Company is in the business of leasing and financing. As such, there are no separate reportable business 
segments as per Accounting Standard (AS)-17 on 'Segment Reporting' issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India.
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21.	 As per Accounting Standard (AS) -18  'Related Party Disclosures'  issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India (ICAI), the details are as under:

	 Key Management personnel:
	 a)	 R. Kashyap, Managing Director
	 b)	 S. K. Kaushik, Director Finance 

	 The payments to key management personnel are given under note no. 9 (a) & (b) above.
	 No other transaction except the above has been entered into with any of the key management personnel, their 

relatives, concerns in which they are interested.

22.	 The calculation of Earnings Per Share as required under Accounting Standard (AS) -20 is as under:

	 Basic EPS

Year

2008-09 2007-08

a) Profit after tax Rs. 18079.16 Lacs Rs. 42151.33 Lacs

b) No. of equity shares of face value Rs. 1,000/- each 50,00,000 50,00,000

c) Earning Per Share (a/b) Rs. 361.58 Rs. 843.03

	 Diluted EPS

Year

2008-09 2007-08

a) Profit after tax Rs. 18079.16 Lacs Rs. 42151.33 Lacs

b) No. of equity shares of face value Rs. 1,000/- each 50,16,438 50,00,000

c) Earning Per Share (a/b) Rs. 360.40 Rs. 843.03

	 The reconciliation of weighted number of equity shares is under:
	 Number of shares outstanding during the year:	 50,00,000
	 Number of shares for which application money has
	 been received on 30-03-2009:	 30,00,000
	 Weighted number of equity shares:	 50,16,438

23.	 (a) 	 During the year 2003-04, the company restructured the rate of interest on certain outstanding borrowings 
from LIC and paid Rs.2403 Lacs as advance, representing a portion of the future savings in the interest 
cost. This advance amount is being amortised over the balance tenor of the borrowings. During the year, 
a sum of Rs.201 Lacs (P.Y. Rs.263 Lacs) has been amortised, leaving a balance of Rs.363 Lacs as on                    
31-03-2009 (P.Y. Rs.564 Lacs).

	 (b) 	 During the year 2004-05, the company restructured the rate of interest on certain outstanding borrowings 
from IDBI Ltd. and paid Rs.1378 Lacs as advance, representing a portion of the future savings in the 
interest cost. This advance amount is being amortised over the balance tenor of the borrowings. During 
the year, a sum of Rs.108 Lacs (P.Y. Rs.167 Lacs) has been amortised, leaving a balance of Rs.194 Lacs as 
on 31-03-2009 (P.Y. Rs303 Lacs).

24.	 The Company has raised fresh capital by offering 30,00,000 Equity shares of Rs.1000/- each at par on private 
placement basis to its existing shareholder i.e. President of India through Ministry of Railways, Govt. of India. 
The Company has received the full amount of application money of Rs.300 Crore on 30th March 2009. The 
allotment in respect of this has, however, been approved in the Board of Directors meeting held on 2nd of June 
2009.
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25.	 Interest on Loans, Deposits and Advances include a sum of Rs.1349 Lacs receivable from Income Tax 
Department on assessments pertaining to earlier years. (Received after 01-04-2009).

26.	 Ministry of Railways has deducted tax at source amounting to Rs.9133.54 Lacs on the lease rentals payment to 
the Company during the year.

27.	 Incentives/PRP includes Rs.6.56 Lacs pertaining to earlier years.

28.	 Depreciation on Fixed Assets amounting to Rs.8.51 Lacs reversed during the year 2008-09 pertains to the 
amount excess provided in earlier years

29.	 The company has shown Long Term Loans, Lease Receivable and Lease Rent paid in advance separately under 
the head 'Long Term Loans & Advances' (Schedule 5) in order to provide better disclosure.

30.	 Certain disclosures are required to be made under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 
2006. The Company is in the process or compiling relevant information from its suppliers about their coverage 
under the Act. As the Company has not received the relevant information under the Act till finalisation of 
accounts, no disclosure has been made in the account.

31.	 The Company has a system of physical verification of assets given on lease. The physical verification is 
carried out on a sample basis, as 100% physical verification of rolling assets is neither possible logistically 
nor considered necessary. In addition, Ministry of Railways (Lessee) provides a certificate each year that the 
leased assets are maintained in good working condition as per laid down norms, procedures and standards. 
In the opinion of the management, the aforesaid system is satisfactory considering the fact that the assets are 
maintained and operated by the Central Government.

32.	 a) 	 Changes in Accounting Policies:

(i)		  The Company has opted to adopt Companies (Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2009 
issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs vide notification no.F.No.17/33/2008/CL-V dated                                         
31st March 2009 in terms of which the notional exchange rate variation loss for the current year 
and the notional exchange rate variation gain (net of tax) pertaining to the previous year has been 
transferred to the Foreign Currency Monetary Item Translation Difference Account. This has resulted 
in the overstatement of profit before tax to the extent of Rs.4306.52 Lacs, understatement of General 
Reserve to the extent of Rs.897.04 Lacs and overstatement of foreign currency monetary item 
translation difference account by Rs.3409.48 Lacs.

(ii)		 The Company has adopted AS 15 (Revised)-2005 with effect from the current year. In Terms of 
transitional provisions of AS 15 (Revised), excess liability (Net of deferred tax Assets) appearing in the 
books of Accounts as on 01-04-2008, amounting to Rs.11.39 Lacs has been transferred to the opening 
balance of General Reserve Account resulting in overstatement of General Reserve by Rs.11.39 Lacs, 
overstatement of deferred tax liability by Rs.5.87 Lacs and understatement of current liabilities by 
Rs.17.25 Lacs.

		  Further, adoption of AS 15(Revised) has resulted in overstatement of profits of the current year by 
Rs.12.75 Lacs and understatement of current liabilities by the same amount.

	 b) 	 Deletion of Accounting Policy:

		  Policy regarding amortisation of Miscellaneous Expenditure over a period of five years, being no longer 
required, has been deleted during the year.

33.	 a) 	 Unless otherwise stated, the figures are in Rupees Lacs.

	 b) 	 Previous year figures have been regrouped / rearranged, wherever necessary, in order to make them 
comparable with those of the current year.
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34. BALANCE SHEET ABSTRACT AND COMPANY'S GENERAL BUSINESS PROFILE  
	 (In terms of Part IV Schedule VI)

i. 	 REGISTRATION DETAILS

   	 Registration No. 	 2 6 3 6 3	 State Code 	 5 5 
	 Balance Sheet Date 	 31.03.2009

ii. 	 CAPITAL RAISED DURING THE YEAR (AMOUNT IN RS. LACS)

   	 Public Issue	 NIL	 Right Issue	 NIL
	 Bonus Issue 	 NIL	 Private Placement	 NIL
	 Shares Application Money 	 3 0 0 0 0

iii.	 POSITION OF MOBILISATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF FUNDS (Rs. in Lacs)

	 Total Liabilities	 Total Assets
	 3 3 4 1 1 3 2  	 3 3 4 1 1 3 2

	 Sources of Funds
	 Paid - Up Capital	 Shares Application Money
   	 5 0 0 0 0   	 3 0 0 0 0
   	 Reserves & Surplus 	 Secured Loans
   	 1 9 8 0 7 1	 2 2 6 0 0 2 5
   	 Unsecured Loans	 Deferred Tax Liability 		
   	 4 7 8 8 4 6	 2 2 5 6 5 5

	 Application of Funds
   	 Net Fixed Assets	 Investments
   	 1 3 9 9	 2 0 0
   	 Net Current Assets including of loan of 3156191	 Misc. Expenditure
   	 3 2 3 7 5 8 8 	 N I L
   	 Accumulated Losses	 Deferred Revenue Expenditure
   	 NIL	 3 4 1 0

iv.	 PERFORMANCE OF COMPANY (AMOUNT IN Rs.  Lacs)

   	 Turnover	 Total Expenditure
   	 3 0 2 4 7 8 	 2 3 6 7 0 9
   	 Profit Before Tax	 Profit After Tax
   	 6 5 7 6 9  	 1 8 0 7 9
   	 Earning Per Share in Rs (Rs. 1000 paid)	 Dividend Rate %
   	 3 6 1 .5 8 	 20.00 %

v. 	 GENERIC NAMES OF THREE PRINCIPAL PRODUCTS/SERVICES OF COMPANY
 	 (AS PER MONETARY TERMS)

a)	 Items Code No. (ITC Code)	 N I L
		 Product Description	 L E A S I N G
b)	 Item Code No. (ITC Code)	 N I L
		 Product Description	 F I N A N C I N G

Schedules 1 to 16 form an integral part of the Accounts.		

These are Accounting Policies & Notes on Accounts 
referred to in our report of even date	 On behalf of the Board		

For  DHAWAN & CO.
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS	 S.K. Ajmani	 S.K.Kaushik	 R.Kashyap
	 Company Secretary	 Director (Finance)	 Managing Director
Deepak Kapoor	 & G. M (Term Loans)
Partner
M No. 072302

Place 	: New Delhi	 Sowmya Raghavan
Dated  : 28th July, 2009	 Chairperson			 
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(Rs. In Lacs)

Particulars		  Year ended 		  Year ended 
			   31.03.2009		  31.03.2008

A.	 Cash Flow from Operating activities				  
	 Profit Before Tax	 65768.73		  63834.85	
	 Adjustments for				  
	 1. Depreciation	 28.48		  41.04	
	 2. Loss on sale of fixed assets	 0.38		  0.95	
	 3. Lease Rentals advance amortised	 18603.45		  16749.39	
	 4. Provision for Employee benefits	 16.48		  12.20	
	 5. Exchange Rate Variation	 (195.85)		  (1405.00)	
	 6. Misc. Expenditure written off	 20.00		  5.00	
	 Operating Profit before Working Capital Changes	 84241.67		  79238.43

	 Increase/Decrease-				  
	 1. Loans & Advances (Net of Adv. Tax & ERV)	 36286.71		  (6271.30)	
	 2. Current Assets	 (13238.61)		  (23928.28)	
	 3. Current Liabilities	 15446.59		  12443.58
	 4. Direct Taxes Paid	 (9265.74)		  (7483.23)	

		  29228.95		  (25239.23)	
	 Net Cash flow from Operations		  113470.62		  53999.20

B.	 Cash Flow from Invetsment Activities				  
	 1. Assets Leased during the year	 (699075.30)		  (460480.95)	
	 2. Capital Recovery on Leased Assets	 163524.35		  155349.86	
	 3. Receivables offered for assets securitization	 88840.75		  77221.59	
	 4. Receipt of Long term loans during the year	 4373.12		  5590.17	
	 5. Term Loan given during the year	 (29300.00)		  (24000.00)	
	 6. Purchase of Fixed Assets	 (7.94)		  (5.04)	
	 7. Proceeds from sale of Fixed Assets	 0.08		   0.12 	
	 8. Investments made during the year	  -   	 (471644.94)	  -   	 (246324.25)

C.	 Cash flow from Financing activities 				  
	 1. Funds Raised through Bonds	 599100.00		  519500.00	
	 2. Bonds redeemed during the year	 (157313.33)		  (128744.08)	
	 3. Funds Raised through Term Loans	 174616.00		  291100.00	
	 4. Term Loans Repaid during the year	 (330748.31)		  (394572.06)	
	 5. Funds Raised through External Commercial Borrowings	 49990.00		   -   	

	 6. Repayment of External Commercial Borrowings	 (43016.47)		  (44596.76)	
	 7. Dividend & Dividend Tax Paid during the year	 (13399.00)		  (10000.00)	
	 8. Share Registration Fees Paid during the year	  -   		  (25.00)	
	 9. Share Application Money Received	 30000.00	 309228.89	  -   	 232662.10
	 Net Cash Flow During the year(A+B+C)		  (48945.43)		  40337.05
	 Opening Balance of Cash & Cash Equivalents::				  
	 Balance in the Current Accounts	 5218.31		  9050.86	
	 Balance in the Term Deposit A/cs (orginal maturity of three months or less)	 45000.00		  830.00	
	 Balance in Franking Machine	 0.09		  0.49	
	 Balance in RBI-PLA	 1.02	 50219.42	 1.02	 9882.37

	 Closing Balance of Cash or Cash Equivalents		  1273.99		  50219.42

1. 	 The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the "Indirect Method" as set out in the Accounting Standard - 3 on Cash Flow Statement notified 
under The Companies (Accounting Standard) Rules, 2006.

2. 	 Figures in bracket represent cash outflow from respective activities
3. 	 Previous year figures have been regrouped / rearranged whereever found necessary to make them comparable with the current year figures.
4. 	 Composition of Cash or Cash Equivalents at the end of the year:
	 -Balance in Current Accounts		  1197.78		  5218.31
	  -Balance in Term Deposit A/cs (original maturity of three months or less)		  75.00		  45000.00
	  -Balance in Franking Machine		  0.19		  0.09
	  -Balance in RBI-PLA 		  1.02		  1.02
	 Total		  1273.99		  50219.42
5. 	 Balance in Term Deposits with different Banks for original maturity of more than three months have not been included as Cash or Cash Equivalents.
6. 	 Balance in Current Accounts includes a sum of Rs.1153.68 lacs lying unpaid in Interest/Redemption A/Cs is not available for use by 	 the Company.

This is the Cash Flow Statement referred to in our Report of even date.	 For and on behalf of the Board		

For  DHAWAN & CO.
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS	 S.K. Ajmani	 S.K.Kaushik	 R.Kashyap
	 Company Secretary	 Director (Finance)	 Managing Director
Deepak Kapoor	 & G. M (Term Loans)
Partner
M No. 072302

Place 	 :	New Delhi	 Sowmya Raghavan
Dated 	 :	28th July, 2009	 Chairperson			 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st March 2009
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To,

THE MEMBERS,
INDIAN RAILWAY FINANCE CORPORATION 
LIMITED

We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of 
Indian Railway Finance Corporation   Limited 
as at 31st March 2009 and also the Profit and Loss 
Account and the Cash Flow Statement for the 
year ended on that date annexed thereto. These 
financial statements are responsibility of the 
Company's management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in India. 
Those Standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free 
of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) 
Order, 2003 issued by the Central Government of 
India in terms of sub-section (4A) of section 227 
of the Companies Act, 1956, we enclose in the 
Annexure, a statement on the matters specified in 
paragraph 4 and 5 of the said Order.

a)	 Further to our comments in the Annexure 
referred to above we report that:

(i)	 We have obtained all the information 
and explanations, which to the best of 
our knowledge and belief were necessary 
for the purpose of our audit;

(ii)	 In our opinion, proper books of account, 
as required by law, have been kept by 
the company so far as appears from our 
examination of those books. 

(iii)	 The Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss 
Account of the company, dealt with by 

this report are in agreement with the 
books of account.

(iv)	 In our opinion, the Balance Sheet and 
Profit and Loss Account dealt with by 
this report comply with the applicable 
accounting standards referred to in 
sub-section (3C) of section 211 of the 
Companies Act, 1956 

(v)	 Since the company is a Government 
company, clause (g) of sub-section 
(1) of section 274 of the Companies 
Act, 1956 regarding obtaining written 
representations from the directors of 
the company, is not applicable to 
the Company in terms of Notification 
No.GSR-829 (E) dated 21.10.2003;

(vi)	 In our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the 
explanations given to us, the said 
accounts give the information required by 
the Companies Act, 1956, in the manner 
so required and give a true and fair 
view in conformity with the accounting 
principles generally accepted in India:

(a)	 in the case of  the Balance Sheet, of 
the state of affairs of the Company as 
at 31st  March 2009; 

(b)	 in the case of  the Profit and Loss 
Account, of the Profit for the year 
ended on that date; and

(c)	 in the case of Cash Flow Statement, 
of the cash flows for the year ended 
on that date. 

For & on behalf of 
DHAWAN   &   CO. 

Chartered Accountants
           
Place : New Delhi	 Deepak Kapoor         
Dated : July 28, 2009	 (Partner)

M. No. 072302

Auditor's Report
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ANNEXURE REFERRED TO IN THIRD 
PARAGRAPH OF OUR REPORT OF EVEN 
DATE TO INDIAN RAILWAYS FINANCE 
CORPORATION LIMITED FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31ST MARCH 2009

(i)  (a)	 The Company has maintained proper 
records showing full particulars including  
quantitative details and situation of  fixed 
assets. 

     (b)	 All the owned assets have been physically 
verified by the management during the 
year. No material discrepancies were 
noticed on such physical verification. 
Leased Assets have been certified by the 
Lessee (Ministry of Railways) as to their 
physical existence and good working 
conditions.

     (c) During the year, the company has not 
disposed off any major part of the Fixed 
Assets.

(ii)	 As the company is not in the business 
of trading, manufacturing, mining or      
processing, it does not hold inventory and 
hence did not require physical verification.

(iii)	 The Company has neither taken nor granted 
loan from or to companies, firms or other 
parties covered under Section 301 of the 
Companies Act, 1956.

(iv)	 In our opinion and according to the 
information and explanations given to 
us, there are adequate internal control 
procedures commensurate with the size of 
the company and the nature of its business 
with regard to fixed Assets. During the 
course of our audit, we have not observed 
any continuing failure to correct major 
weaknesses in internal control system. 

(v)	 According to the information and 
explanations given to us, we are of the 
opinion that there are no transactions that 
need to be entered into the register required 
to be maintained under section 301 of the 
Companies Act, 1956. 

(vi)	 The Company has not accepted or renewed 

deposits from the public contravening the 
directives issued by the Reserve Bank of 
India and the provision under section 58A 
& 58AA of the Companies Act, 1956 and 
the rules framed there under.

(vii)	 In our opinion, the company has an internal 
audit system commensurate with the size 
and nature of its business.

(viii)	 We have been informed that Central 
government has not prescribed maintenance 
of cost accounting records under section 
209 (1) (d) of the Companies Act, 1956 
for the industry to which the company 
belongs.

(ix)	 (a)	The company is generally regular in 
depositing with appropriate authorities 
undisputed statutory dues including 
provident fund, investor education 
protection fund, employees state 
insurance, income tax, sales tax, wealth 
tax, service tax, custom duty, excise 
duty, cess and other material statutory 
dues applicable to it.

	 (b)	According to the information and 
explanation given to us, no undisputed 
amounts payable in respect of income 
tax, wealth tax, service tax, sales tax, 
custom duty, excise duty and cess were 
in arrears, as at 31.03.2009 for a period 
of more than six months from the date 
they became payable.

	 (c)	According to the information & 
explanation given to us, there are no 
dues of sales tax, income tax, custom 
duty, wealth tax, service tax, excise duty 
and cess, which have not been deposited 
on account of any dispute.

(x)	 The company does not have accumulated 
losses as at 31st March 2009 nor incurred 
any cash losses during the year and 
immediately preceding year. 

(xi)	 In our opinion and according to the 
information and explanations given to 
us, the company has not defaulted any 
repayment of dues to financial institutions, 
banks or debenture holders.
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(xii)	 The company has not granted any loans and 
advances on the basis of security by way 
of pledge of shares, debentures and other 
securities.

(xiii)	 In our opinion, the Company is not a chit 
fund or a nidhi / mutual benefit fund / 
society. Therefore, the provisions of clause 
of 4(xiii) of the Companies (Auditors' 
Report) Order (Amendment), 2004 are not 
applicable to the company.

(xiv)	 In our opinion, the company is not dealing 
in or trading in shares, securities, debentures 
and other investments. Accordingly, the 
provisions of clause  4(xiv) of  the Companies 
(Auditors' Report) Order (Amendment), 
2004 are not applicable to the company.

(xv)	 We have been informed that the company 
has not given guarantees for loans taken by 
others from Banks or Financial Institutions; 
as such the clause 4(xv) is not applicable. 

(xvi)	 In our opinion, the company has utilized 
the term loans for the purpose for which 
loans were availed.

(xvii)	According to the information and 
explanation given to us and on an overall 
examination of the balance sheet of the 
company, we report that no funds raised 
on short term basis have been used for long 

term investment. No long-term funds have 
been used to finance short-terms assets.

(xviii)  According to the information & explanation 
given to us, the company, has not made 
preferential allotment of shares to parties and 
companies covered in register maintained 
under section 301 of the Companies Act, 
1956.

(xix)	 According to the information and 
explanations given to us, during the period 
covered by our audit report, the company 
has issued 59910 bonds of Rs. 10,00,000 
each. The company has created security in 
respect of bonds issued.

(xx)   The company has not raised funds by public 
issues; as such 4(xx) is not applicable. 

(xxi)	 According to the information and 
explanations given to us, no fraud on or by 
the company has been noticed or reported 
during the year.

For & on behalf of 
DHAWAN   &   CO. 

Chartered Accountants
           
Place : New Delhi	 Deepak Kapoor         
Dated : July 28, 2009	 (Partner)

M. No. 072302
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COMMENTS OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL OF INDIA UNDER SECTION 
619(4) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1956 ON THE ACCOUNTS OF INDIAN RAILAY FINANCE 
CORPORATION LIMITED, NEW DLEHI FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31  MARCH 2009.

The preparation of financial statements of Indian Railway Finance Corporation Limited, New Delhi,  for 

the year ended 31 March 2009 in accordance with the financial reporting framework prescribed under 

the Companies Act, 1956 is the responsibility of the management of the company.  The statutory auditors 

appointed by the Comptroller and Auditor General of India under Section 619(2) of the Companies 

Act, 1956 are responsible for expressing opinion on these financial statements under Section 227 of 

the Companies Act, 1956, based on  independent audit in accordance with the auditing and assurance 

standards prescribed by their professional body, the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.  This is 

stated to have been done by them vide their Audit Report dated 28  July 2009.

I, on behalf of the Comptroller of Auditor General of India, have conducted a supplementary audit under 

Section 619(3) (b) of the Companies Act, 1956 of the financial statements of Indian Railway Finance 

Corporation Limited, New Delhi for the year ended 31  March 2009.  This supplementary audit has been 

carried out independently without access to the working papers of the statutory auditors and is limited 

primarily to inquiries of the statutory auditors and company personnel and a selective examination of 

some of the accounting records.  On the basis of my audit nothing significant has come to my knowledge 

which would give rise to any comment upon or supplement to Statutory Auditors report under Section 

619(4) of the Companies Act, 1956.

	 For and on the behalf of the
	 Comptroller & Auditor General of India

	 (Ghazala Meenai)
	 Principal Director of Commercial Audit &

Place: New Delhi	 Ex-officio Member Audit Board-III
Dated:  18   August 2009	  New Delhi

Comments of the C & A G of India












